# Pristine Forest Landscapes as Ecological References

## Human Land use and Ecosystem Change in Boreal Fennoscandia

Torbjörn Josefsson

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2009 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2009:77

Cover: Old Scots pine tree with a bark-peeling scar. Photo taken in the northern part of Tjeggelvas nature reserve. (photo: Torbjörn Josefsson)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7424-1 © 2009 Torbjörn Josefsson, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia, Umeå 2009

# Pristine Forest Landscapes as Ecological References – Human Land use and Ecosystem Change in Boreal Fennoscandia

#### Abstract

Northern boreal forests that display no signs of forestry or agriculture in the past are often regarded as intact, pristine forests. Yet, humans have inhabited these environments for millennia and developed a variety of economic strategies for their subsistence. Generally, these forms of land use have been regarded as minor disturbances, and have thus frequently been neglected in ecological studies. Despite the increased recognition of the importance of past land use in other forest landscapes, the land use effects in northerly remote forests remain unclear.

In this thesis the influence of human land use on forest structure, composition and biodiversity (dead wood and wood-inhabiting fungi) during the last 1 000 years was studied in three Scots pine forests in northern Sweden. For this purpose I used an interdisciplinary approach, combining field studies on present forest characteristics with long-term records such as archaeological remains and biological archives, and short-term records such as historical documents.

My results show that long-term, low-intensity land use can substantially influence forest structure and composition and that land use legacies can reverberate through the ecosystem for many centuries. This implies that forests in remote and inaccessible areas with no recent management cannot be indiscriminately used to represent 'pristine' reference conditions. The results also show that to understand the overall magnitude and complexity of the relationship between humans and the land, all forms of human activities that may have occurred within the studied space should be considered. Furthermore, different patterns and gradients of past land use; varying in space, time and intensity across landscapes, create 'layers' of land use. The result is a matrix in which some areas have been heavily used for extensive periods of time whereas other parts may have practically escaped human exploitation.

To detect and interpret anthropogenic disturbance in northern forest ecosystems a clear strategy for choosing relevant methods and applying them in the right order should be adopted. Then, possibly pristine forests can be evaluated as reference areas for addressing scientific research questions and conservation management.

*Keywords:* forest history, interdisciplinary research, indigenous people, Sami, disturbance, dead wood, wood-inhabiting fungi, reference areas, conservation

*Author's address:* Torbjörn Josefsson, SLU, Department of Forest Ecology and Management, S-901 83 Umeå, Sweden. *E-mail:* Torbjorn.Josefsson@svek.slu.se

# Contents

List of	f Publications	7
1	Introduction	9
1.1	Long-term human land use in boreal forests	11
1.2	Conceptual problems with 'pristine forest'	13
1.3	Objectives	14
2	Study areas	17
3	Methods	21
3.1	Archaeological field surveys and historical records	21
3.2	Biological archives	22
3.3	Ecological field studies on forest structure and biodiversity	23
4	Results and discussion	25
4.1	Pre-industrial land use	25
	4.1.1 Utilisation of natural resources	26
	4.1.2 Effects of low-intensity land use near settlements	28
	4.1.3 Environmental effects of reindeer herding	31
	4.1.4 Movements across the landscape	33
4.2	Early commercial logging	35
4.3	Cumulative effects of human impact	39
	4.3.1 Gradients and patterns	40
	4.3.2 A matrix of different kinds of land use	42
4.4	Sources and strategies for studying land use in northerly forests	44
	4.4.1 Methodological considerations	44
	4.4.2 How to combine different methods	47
4.5	The value of studying pristine forest landscapes	49
	4.5.1 Approaching a definition of pristine forests	49
	4.5.2 Reference areas, conservation and cultural heritage	51
5	Concluding remarks	55
Refer	ences	57
Ackno	owledgements	69

# List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Josefsson, T., Hörnberg, G. & Östlund, L. (2009). Long-term human impact and vegetation changes in a boreal forest reserve: implications for the use of protected areas as ecological references. *Ecosystems* 12(6):1017-1036.
- II Josefsson, T., Östlund, L., Gunnarson, B., Bergman, I. & Liedgren, L. Historical human influence on forest composition and structure in boreal Fennoscandia: indigenous peoples' land-use legacies in protected forest landscapes (Submitted manuscript).
- III Josefsson, T., Bergman, I. & Östlund, L. (2009). Quantifying Saami Settlement and Movement Patterns in Northern Sweden, 1700–1900. Accepted for publication in *Arctic* (In press).
- IV Josefsson, T., Olsson, J. & Östlund, L. Linking forest history and conservation efforts: effects of logging on forest structure and diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi (Submitted manuscript).

Papers I and III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers: Springer Science and Business Media (Paper I) and Arctic Institute of North America (Paper III).

# 1 Introduction

What is a pristine forest landscape? To most people the concept 'pristine forest' evokes an image of wilderness - an untouched environment devoid of human imprints, for example the impressive forest of the Pacific Northwest with colossal trees and deep layers of foliage, or the barren forests of the northernmost Taiga with very old and rugged trees scattered over vast, roadless landscapes. Highly valued by the general public and nature conservation authorities for their "unspoiled" appearance and richness in plants and wildlife, such forests were among the first types of ecosystems to be preserved in National Parks and nature reserves in North America and northern Europe (Steen, 1992; Peterken, 1996; Lundholm, 2008), and as Zapovedniks in western Russia (Shtil'mark, 2003). The idea of pristine forest as undamaged nature runs deep in society as well as in the scientific community (Pollan, 1991; Cronon, 1995; Povilitis, 2002), and is far from new (Thoreau, 1854). In recent times, deforestation, forest fragmentation and transformation of forests (Bryant et al., 1997; Aksenov et al., 1999; Potapov et al., 2008) have heavily reduced the extent of remaining "pristine" forests, providing an important reason why people strongly care about them. However, another reason that is just as important is their supposedly natural appearance. Since many people today are distanced from nature, forests considered as pristine are often believed to resemble the natural environment in a near-ideal state, as it was before human interference.

To ecologists and foresters interested in the functions, structure and composition of forest ecosystems, pristine forests often represent a natural state and have long been studied in Europe (Schenck, 1924; Jones, 1945; Peterken & Jones, 1987; Linder *et al.*, 1997), Russia (Iwaschkewitsch, 1929; Bobkova *et al.*, 2007; Shorohova *et al.*, 2009) and North America (Cline & Spurr, 1942; Lorimer, 1980; Runkle, 1982). Traditionally, this research has focused on structural components, ecosystem dynamics and processes within

these forests, and much of what we know about them has been obtained from such descriptive studies. However, the study of forests believed to be pristine has also become a fundamental component of comparative studies of the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on forest structure, composition and biodiversity for various applications. Notably, they have been widely used as models for near-natural management in forestry (Angelstam & Majewski, 1996; Çolak *et al.*, 2003; Frelich *et al.*, 2005; Kuuluvainen, 2009) and for obtaining ecological baselines for biodiversity (Lesica *et al.*, 1991; Dettki & Esseen, 1998; Willis *et al.*, 2005; Junninen *et al.*, 2006).

By its very nature, the study of 'seemingly pristine' forest ecosystems also incorporates a historical dimension, and the roles of both natural and anthropogenic events in the past in shaping the environment have become increasingly apparent to ecologists. As pointed out by various authors, for example Foster et al. (2003) and Rhemtulla and Mladenoff (2007), the legacy of past land use may reverberate through ecosystems for many centuries. For this reason, studying the past has become an important element of attempts to interpret the structure and function of contemporary ecosystems (Ostlund et al., 1997; Foster et al., 1998; Motzkin et al., 1999; Storaunet et al., 2000; Bürgi & Gimmi, 2007; Jönsson et al., 2009) and to guide restoration and conservation efforts (White & Walker, 1997; Swetnam et al., 1999; Honney et al., 2004; Lilja, 2006). Furthermore, the incorporation of a historical approach into ecological research has generated increasing awareness that all of the world's ecosystems have been immensely affected by humans (Turner II, 1990; Vitousek, 1994; Birks et al., 1998; Delcourt & Delcourt, 2004), and the degree to which 'seemingly pristine' forests have been affected by human activities is becoming increasingly evident.

In fact, many of the forests initially designated as pristine have been subsequently shown to be far from unaffected by human activities. For example, Fiby urskog (Fig. 1) in south-eastern Sweden was long considered to be a pristine forest (hence, its name, which means 'the pristine forest of Fiby') (Sernander, 1918). However, long-term reconstructions of the forest's history by Hesselman (1935) and Bradshaw & Hannon (1992) showed that it had been disturbed by humans using fire and grazing to keep the forest open until about 200 years ago. Another example is the well-known Białowieża forest in eastern Poland, once preserved as a hunting forest for the Russian Tsars but later considered to be one of very few remnants of pristine temperate forests in Europe (Jones, 1945). Further information regarding the history of this forest obtained in more recent studies, notably pollen analyses by Mitchell & Cole (1998), have shown that anthropogenic impact on the forest has been substantial during at least the last 250 years.



*Figure 1.* Old Scots pine forest in a late succession stage in the nature reserve Fiby urskog, central Sweden. (Photo by Mari Jönsson)

To date, most evidence that many supposedly 'pristine' forests may still bear the imprint of past human activities has been acquired from studies of remnant forests in densely populated regions and landscapes that have been heavily influenced by humans over extensive periods of time (predominately forests within the temperate region). However, throughout the boreal parts of Eurasia and North America large forested landscapes that have not been affected by modern forestry still exist, and many of these forests are still widely considered to be pristine (Norton, 1996; Aksenov *et al.*, 1999; Yaroshenko *et al.*, 2001).

### 1.1 Long-term human land use in boreal forests

The boreal forest forms a circumpolar belt in the northern hemisphere. In North America it covers the area between Newfoundland and Alaska, bordering the Great Lakes in the south and the tundra in the north. Known in Russia as the Taiga, it constitutes one of the largest biomes in the world,

extending from the Kamchatka peninsula to Fennoscandia (Norway, Sweden, Finland, Karelia and the Kola Peninsula). While extensive parts of these vast forests have been heavily utilised by large-scale industries such as mining, hydroelectric development and forestry, some large areas of unexploited forest still remain, predominately in the Russian North but other areas are also present in northern Canada and interior Alaska (Bryant et al., 1997; Aksenov et al., 1999). Western Europe's last tracts of such forest are in northern Fennoscandia. However, nowhere has the overall transformation of the boreal forest been as dramatic and nearly comprehensive as here (Östlund et al., 1997; Kouki et al., 2001; Löfman & Kouki, 2001). Once covered by vast areas of multi-aged and structurally diverse forest, both Finland and Sweden now encompass highly homogenous forests managed for timber and pulp production. Pristine forests are believed to exist only in a few northerly national parks and nature reserves. However, according to recent forest surveys, areas of pristine forest also exist outside these parks and reserves (Anon, 2006a; Anon, 2006b; Anon, 2008).

Throughout human history, northerly boreal and subarctic forest landscapes have been very sparsely populated, often by less than one person per km<sup>2</sup>. Consequently, these ecosystems have been exposed to very low direct anthropogenic influence via human land use activities, compared to forests in more southerly regions. However, other, indirect anthropogenic effects, via processes such as global warming and nitrogen deposition, may well be strong at northerly latitudes as well as in more southerly regions (Vitousek, 1994; Vitousek *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, people have inhabited these environments for thousands of years, primarily relying for their subsistence on hunting, fishing and gathering natural resources at optimal times, and storing their harvests to sustain them during the long seasonal periods when resources were scarce (Nelson, 1980; Östlund & Bergman, 2006). Generally, these varied forms of land use have been regarded as minor disturbances, restricted in spatial scale and magnitude, and have thus frequently been neglected in ecological studies of northern boreal forests.

This is quite remarkable since, as pointed out earlier, past disturbances, even very far back in time can continue to influence ecosystem structure and processes for extensive periods of time, especially in northern boreal forests where tree growth and decomposition are slow (Wardle *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, there is an increasing body of evidence suggesting that preindustrial human activities have had (and continue to have) profound, widespread effects on ecological processes and the structure and composition of boreal ecosystems (Hicks, 1995; Hörnberg *et al.*, 1999; Karlsson *et al.*, 2007). In the light of the long history of human subsistence in boreal

environments there are reasons to believe that land use legacies of people, i.e. their effects on contemporary boreal ecosystems, may have been underestimated both in North America and Europe (cf. Denevan, 1992; Östlund *et al.*, 2003; Delcourt & Delcourt, 2004).

### 1.2 Conceptual problems with 'pristine forest'

During the last decade increased use of different terms related to the concept of pristine forest has generated much confusion. For example, wilderness, primeval, virgin, frontier, old-growth, primary, and ancient forest/woodland (in Swedish 'urskog' and in German 'urwald') are often used more or less synonymously. Some of these terms have been strongly criticised (Satterfield, 1997; Innes & Er, 2002; Kimmins, 2003) and there are several problems related to all of them. Generally, when such concepts are applied they are poorly defined, which causes confusion and leads to misconception. Frequently, they are used to refer to environments devoid of humans, and in other cases they are used synonymously with late successional stages. Another problem is that they are used in inappropriate contexts and often in a value-laden manner. Alarmed by the reduction and fragmentation of previously unmanaged forest - with attendant reductions in biodiversity ecologists and foresters have called for a conceptual clarification, and although serious attempts have been made to distinguish and define some of these concepts, they still cause confusion regarding exactly what is meant (Peterken, 1996; Er & Innes, 2003; Helms, 2004; Rouvinen & Kouki, 2008).

The extent to which forests have been considered as pristine is closely related to its level of structural and compositional heterogeneity. Such heterogeneity is gradually created and maintained by diverse processes, principally disturbance and succession, operating over a wide range of temporal and spatial scales (Sprugel, 1991; Spies & Turner, 1999; Kuuluvainen, 2002). Commonly, forests denoted pristine are thought to be in late succession stages, highly heterogeneous in age and structure, and only affected by natural disturbances. This, however, might be too simplistic. Is it essential for pristine forests to be heterogeneous and in late successional stages? If so, then the even-aged, homogenous post-fire deciduous forests of northern Fennoscandia (Fig. 2), those studied by Hellberg et al. (2009) for example, should not presumably be regarded as pristine, nor the Ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa P. & C. Lawson) and lodgepole pine (P. contorta Dougl. ex Loud.) ecosystems in North America, which are frequently affected by natural disturbances (cf. Veblen, 1986; Covington & Moore, 1994).



*Figure 2.* Post-fire deciduous forests, about 100 years old, at Måkkavara, northern Sweden. (Photo by Torbjörn Josefsson)

An important aspect in this context concerns the difference between natural disturbances and those caused by humans. The level of anthropogenic disturbance in forests has commonly been linked to activities that are radically different from natural disturbances, e.g. agriculture or logging (Mladenoff et al., 1993; Linder et al., 1997; Fuller et al., 1998; Bürgi & Turner, 2002; Rouvinen et al., 2002; Okland et al., 2003). However, preindustrial anthropogenic disturbances can resemble natural disturbances in that they may continue to influence whole forest ecosystems and their functions up to the present day (Foster et al., 2003). In northern boreal forests, long-term and low-intensity land use by indigenous people, for example reindeer herding (Vitebsky, 2005) and the use of fire (Ray, 1996), may be of great importance, but their effects are rarely considered. The reasons for this are not simply unawareness of their importance, or unwillingness among researchers and managers to consider them; it is because we lack appropriate analytical instruments for identifying and interpreting the effects of other forms of land use in these ecosystems.

#### 1.3 Objectives

The fundamental research questions addressed in this thesis are centred on the concept of 'pristine forest' and the characteristics and history of boreal



forest landscapes. The studied forest type is dominated by Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and the kind of landscapes under consideration include gradients of forests, from those with indiscernible anthropogenic impact, as interpreted by archaeological investigations and historical analyses, to forests with highly visible influence of past human land use. Particular emphasis is on the subtle and less intensively studied human impact of indigenous people and how they may have contributed to the present structure and composition of the ecosystem. The timeframe for this thesis encompasses the period AD 1000 to 2000, with a particular focus on the period AD 1600 to 1900. More specifically, my aims in this thesis are to: 1) analyze and describe how humans have utilised northern boreal forests and how their activities may have affected forest structure, composition and biodiversity during the studied period, 2) discuss human impact in terms of environmental patterns and gradients in the present landscape, 3) present a set of tools that can be used to study past human land use in northern boreal forests, and 4) discuss and evaluate northern boreal forests' status in terms of pristine forest, core areas for biodiversity and their potential utility as ecological references. The thesis is based on studies described in four appended papers addressing longterm local vegetation changes (Paper I), structural and compositional differences within seemingly homogenous forest landscapes (Paper II), movement patterns and resource utilisation by reindeer herders (Paper III), and the impact of early selective logging on biodiversity in possibly pristine forests (IV). The information obtained in these studies provides the foundations for a broad discussion regarding ecological research and conservation strategies in northern forests.

# 2 Study areas

The fieldwork reported in Papers I – IV was conducted in the western part of Norrbotten County, in the northern boreal zone of Sweden (Ahti *et al.*, 1968) (Fig. 3). The study areas were selected to cover a range of sites with differing degrees of past human impact. The studied ecosystem is characterised by late successional, generally semi-open forests dominated by



Scots pine with scattered downy birch trees (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) on dry and nutrient-poor soils (Fig. 4). Other deciduous trees, mainly goat willow (*Salix caprea* L.) and grey alder (*Alnus incana* (L.) Moench), occur at moister

sites while mountain birch (*B. pubescens* Ehrh. ssp. *czerepanovii*) features at higher elevations. Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) occurs infrequently throughout the landscape. The topography is characterised by an undulating terrain, interspersed with small wetlands, lakes and streams.



Figure 4. Close-up of the late-successional Scots pine forest in Tjeggelvas. The rugged old pines adopt many forms, adapting to the harsh environment. (Photo by Torbjörn Josefsson)

The first study area, called Tjeggelvas, is the least human-influenced forest and is situated on the Arctic Circle within the Tjeggelvas nature reserve, which lies in the vicinity of the continuous mountain range called the Caledonians. The Pite River divides the reserve into a northern part with large, roadless forest landscapes, in which the study site is situated, and a southern part. Due to its remoteness and inaccessibility, these forests have neither been cleared for agriculture, nor affected by forestry. The second (Eggelats) and third (Vaksamvare) study areas are situated further down the Pite River valley and constitute two of the forest remnants that were recently identified in a national inventory of unprotected forests with high conservation value (Anon, 2006b). Scattered stumps testify that both areas have been selectively cut around a hundred years ago, but only to a minor extent.

All three of these areas are located within a region called Sápmi (i.e. the Sami land) covering the northern part of Fennoscandia (Fig. 3). People have

inhabited the region encompassing the three study areas since shortly after the last ice-age, finding sustenance in resources located throughout these vast forest and mountainous landscapes (Bergman et al., 2003). During the last few thousand years Sami ethnicity is believed to have developed, and in the course of time the Sami developed a variety of economic strategies to exploit many natural resources, including reindeer (Rangifer tarandus L.) (Ruong, 1969; Hansen & Olsen, 2006). Initially, wild reindeer were hunted, but later reindeer pastoralism developed. Due to the seasonally shifting availability of recourses and the intensive nature of reindeer herding (i.e. migrating with the herd, keeping close watch over it and using the animals mainly for transport and milk production) they moved over large areas. Each reindeer herding family had several camp sites with specific resources and temporary or more stationary huts that were used during different times of the year (Fig. 5). Until the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century the subsistence of many of the Sami in northern Sweden was based on reindeer pastoralism complemented with hunting, fishing and gathering edible plants (cf. Ruong, 1969; Fjellström, 1985). Extraction of specific plant resources was crucial in Sami subsistence, for example the collection of inner bark from pine for food was particularly important (cf. Zackrisson et al., 2000; Bergman et al., 2004). Today, tending much larger herds of reindeer, primarily for meat production, has replaced the intensive form of reindeer pastoralism.



*Figure 5.* Moving with the reindeers. Early 20<sup>th</sup> century, Arjeplog (Photo by Lars Rensund, Source: The Silver museum)

In the late 17<sup>th</sup> century the interior parts of northern Sweden began to be colonised by farmers. For several reasons, including geopolitical and religious factors, in addition to the rapidly increasing agrarian population in the south and central parts of Sweden, the Swedish state took measures to encourage farmers to move north (Arell, 1979). However, the pioneer settlers faced enormous difficulties in cultivating crops, due to the poor soil conditions and extremely short growing seasons. Consequently, a new form



*Figure 6.* The agrarian settlement Akkapakte, situated just outside the Tjeggelvas nature reserve. The people who utilised this settlement were Sami and descended from reindeer herders who had inhabited the area for several centuries. (Photo by Torbjörn Josefsson)

of farming developed, based on the creation of pastures for domesticated animals and making hay from vegetation gathered from sedge bogs (cf. Campbell, 1948). This colonisation wave reached the upper parts of the Pite River valley in the mid  $19^{th}$  century (Bylund, 1956). In this region many of the new settlements were established by Sami people who had given up reindeer herding, and one such abandoned settlement, named Akkapakte, is adjacent to the Tjeggelvas nature reserve (Fig. 6). In the late  $19^{th}$  century, more attention was also paid to the economic values of the extensive forest in the area. Consequently, increasing utilisation of the forest followed the colonisation process. As described in Andersson *et al.* (2005) the initial forest exploitation by the sawmill industries, was focused on the largest trees. At the turn of the  $20^{th}$  century the logging activities intensified, but it was not until the 1950s that large-scale cutting for timber and pulpwood was introduced in this region (Andersson *et al.*, 2005).



# 3 Methods

Forest history studies, especially long-term studies, benefit from using a combination of methods since all retrospective methods have both advantages and limitations (Foster *et al.*, 1996; Briggs *et al.*, 2006). Methods available for retrospective studies include analysis of long-term records such as archaeological remains and biological archives, and short-term records such as historical documents, oral histories, aerial photographs and remote sensing data (cf. Agnoletti & Andersen, 2000). In the studies underlying this thesis the following retrospective methods that have been developed for applications in both natural sciences and the humanities were used.

### 3.1 Archaeological field surveys and historical records

For the studies described in Papers I – III, superficial land-based archaeological field surveys were carried out to locate old, abandoned and naturally reforested settlements and related resource areas. Remains such as hearths, i.e. fireplaces made of stone and cooking pits (cf. Bergman, 1995), degraded dwelling huts (Liedgren *et al.*, 2009) and other wooden constructions provide good, although incomplete, insights into the spatial distribution of past human activity (Fig 7a-c). While archaeological data provide temporal and spatial context, historical documents offer information regarding individuals, pre-industrial forest utilisation and geographical features within specific areas (cf. Östlund & Zackrisson, 2000). In Fennoscandia, particularly in Sweden and Finland, the historical records are uniquely comprehensive (for the boreal region) and for the most part available and well preserved, hence they have been used in several studies on Sami history and subsistence (Hultblad, 1968; Kvist & Wheelersburg, 1997; Helle & Helama, 2007; Bergman *et al.*, 2008). For the study described in

Paper III archival sources in the forms of cameral and judicial documents and church records from the 17<sup>th</sup> century onwards were used.



*Figure* 7. Archaeological remains near Sami settlements: a) unexcavated hearth of árran type, Eggelats, b) dwelling hut, Njaltaheden, northern Sweden, and c) reconstruction of a small storage house – njalla, Nilas nature reserve, northern Sweden. (All photos by Torbjörn Josefsson)

#### 3.2 Biological archives

For the assessments of long-term vegetation changes reported in paper I a palaeoecological approach was applied – including fine resolution analyses of pollen, organic matter contents and charcoal fragments in peat cores – to elucidate possible imprints of pre-industrial human activities on past vegetational composition and their temporal extent. Indications of past human activity in pollen diagrams may include abrupt changes in the proportions of arboreal pollen, i.e. pollen produced mainly from tree taxa, or the presence of anthropogenic indicators, (pollen taxa indicating various kinds of human activity), referred to as apophytes and anthropocores (cf. Behre, 1981; Vorren, 1986). For the studies reported in Papers II and IV dendrochronology, i.e. the analysis of tree-ring growth patterns (cf. Schweingruber, 1988), was used. Cross-dating, i.e. matching patterns of variations in the widths of sequences of rings in cores taken from trees enables human-induced scars caused by past resource utilisation to be dated (cf. Östlund *et al.*, 2002; Andersson, 2005).

### 3.3 Ecological field studies on forest structure and biodiversity

In the studies described in Papers II and IV extensive field data were collected on past traces of forest utilisation, current forest structure and composition (including living and dead trees). In Paper II this information was used to study the impact of human land use activities, and in Paper IV it was used to examine the effects of the first commercial loggings in the area (around 1900). One of the most serious threats to the continued presence of many forest-dwelling species is the loss of dead wood, since it provide essential habitats for a wide range of species, including certain fungal species (cf. Harmon et al., 1986; Siitonen, 2001). Consequently, the field data reported in Paper IV also included records of wood-inhabiting fungi. The fungal flora of dead pine trees, mainly polypore and corticioid fungi, were studied by recording sporocarps. This approach - assessing the presence/absence of fruiting bodies - is well established in studies on woodinhabiting fungi (Bader et al., 1995; Renvall, 1995; Rolstad et al., 2004). To allow reliable species identification large numbers of samples were collected and their microscopic characters were subsequently checked in the laboratory.

## 4 Results and discussion

In general, northern boreal forest landscapes that have escaped modern forestry are large tracts of late successional and multi-aged coniferous forests with large amounts of dead and dying trees, including deciduous trees and a comparatively species-poor field layer. In northern Fennoscandia, these forests are generally dominated by Scots pine, Norway spruce (Picea abies (L) Karst.) or, at higher elevations and in the subarctic regions, birch (Betula spp.) (Sjörs, 1965). In the pine forests included in this study, ages of trees commonly exceed 400 years (the oldest trees are almost 700 years old) and the proportion of dead wood is very high - occasionally representing almost half of the total timber volume, i.e. the summed volume of living and dead trees (II, IV). These general characteristics are consistent with those of late successional pine forests in northern Fennoscandia observed by various other authors, for example Sippola et al. (1998) and Lilja & Kuuluvainen (2005). However, at a finer spatial resolution these forest landscapes encompass areas with distinct variations in forest structure and vegetation composition. Such disparities are partly due to variations in edaphic conditions, i.e. conditions influenced by physical and biological properties of the soils rather than climate, and partly the result of past disturbances such as fire, wind and pathogen attacks. Some of these differences, however, also result from various forms of human land use in the past.

### 4.1 Pre-industrial land use

In northern boreal ecosystems, the harsh climate and short vegetation growth periods have shaped unique subsistence strategies and settlement patterns among the people inhabiting the region. Here, the land use was heavily dictated by the temporal patterns of abundance and scarcity of resources, across vast areas. In forests that have escaped logging and

agriculture, signs of this type of land use may still be found. This is in sharp contrast to forest ecosystems further south, i.e. in southern boreal and temperate forests, where the landscapes have been affected by many superimposed layers of cultural activities over time (Östlund & Bergman, 2006).

Hearths are often the most distinctive structures at very old and otherwise degraded pre-industrial settlement sites (Fig. 7a) (Hedman, 2003). In the interior parts of northern Fennoscandia hearths can be found along the shores of the larger lakes, and many mark locations that were used for quite short periods of time, while people were gathering specific resources (Bergman, 1995). During the field investigations in Tjeggelvas, remains of more than 100 hearths used for occasional activities were detected (I). However, hearths can also pinpoint the locations of dwellings that were used seasonally or during a substantial part of the year (Fig. 7b). In northern Fennoscandia such sites often included two or three dwelling huts in addition to storage buildings and other wooden constructions utilised by the Sami (Fig. 7c). Two such settlement sites were found in Tjeggelvas – situated on the shores of two of the larger lakes (I). Datings of different wooden parts of one of the disintegrated dwelling huts indicate that that this settlement was established in the late 18<sup>th</sup> century (Liedgren *et al.*, 2009).

#### 4.1.1 Utilisation of natural resources

Near the settlements a range of activities were carried out. Like many northern people, the Sami hunted using extensive systems of trap-lines (Nelson, 1983; Brody, 1988; Ray, 1996). The only remaining signs of these are blazed trees and stones, or piles of stones, placed at regular intervals, marking systems of trap lines, starting from a settlement or shoreline and extending through the sparse forest in an oval pattern, returning to the starting point (Fig. 8a). It probably took the hunter a day or two to inspect and empty the traps along such trap lines. Animals that were commonly hunted included red squirrel (Sciurus vulgaris L.), ermine (also known as stoat, Mustela erminea L.) and wolverine (Gulo gulo L.). The Sami also fished for northern pike (Esox lucius L.) and arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus L.), primarily in larger lakes, sometimes using a small log raft (Fig. 8b) (III). The importance of good fishing lakes is apparent from old historical documents regarding land use rights in which lakes suitable for fishing were carefully noted (III). Decayed stumps originating from the collection of firewood, blazes on trees indicating the locations of important resources or walking trails, and remains of storage platforms carefully positioned at strategic places constitute other traces of past land use (Fig. 8c).



*Figure 8.* Archaeological remains of Sami land use: a) a small stone placed on top of a boulder (encircled) marking a trail, Tjeggelvas, b) the degraded remains of a fishing raft, Tjeggelvas, and c) foundation of a wooden storage platform, Paulavuobme, northern Sweden. (All photos Torbjörn Josefsson)

Some of the most conspicuous signs of past resource utilisation in coniferous forests across the northern hemisphere are trees with large rectangular or triangular scars, namely bark-peeled trees (Fig. 9a-c). Long confused with natural damage to the tree, e.g. from forest fire, we now know that these scars derive from harvesting of tree inner bark (Östlund *et al.*, 2009). The use of this resource extends far back in time; evidence of collection of inner-bark almost 3 000 years back in time in northern Fennoscandia has been provided by Östlund *et al.* (2004). Throughout the northern hemisphere bark has been used for a number of purposes, including as building material, for producing ropes and storage utensils, as medicine and as a source of food and nutrients (Martorano, 1981; Swetnam, 1984; Mobley & Eldridge, 1992; Zackrisson *et al.*, 2000; Prince, 2001; Marshall, 2002). The Sami primarily used inner-bark from Scots pine for food (as a complementary source of nutrients, carbohydrates and vitamin C) and for making containers for storing sinews (Bergman *et al.*, 2004).

In Tjeggelvas, bark-peelings were found throughout the whole forest landscape, covering thousands of hectares, indicating that people covered large distances to harvest this resource. Close to the lake shores, there are large concentrations of bark-peelings and near settlement sites almost every other tree bear signs of this ancient form of resource utilisation. Many of the bark-peelings near the Sami settlements in Tjeggelvas were dated to the 18<sup>th</sup> century, corroborating the dating of one of the dwelling huts. However, the oldest bark-peeling that was recorded was found on a living tree and dated to 1636 (II). Presumably, older, undetected bark-peelings on lying dead trees

are also present in the area. In Vaksamvare and Eggelats only a few trees with bark-peelings were recorded (IV), almost certainly due to the early selective cuttings carried out at the turn of the  $20^{th}$  century, when the bark-peeled trees were cut, rather than to a reduction in Sami activity in the area (IV).



*Figure 9.* Trees with typical bark-peeling scars: a) Scots pine tree in Tjeggelvas, b) Ponderosa tree in Fales Flat, southwest Montana, USA, and c) Scots pine tree in Kostomukshsky Zapovednik in western Karelia, Russia. (All photos Torbjörn Josefsson)

#### 4.1.2 Effects of low-intensity land use near settlements

Considering the temporal extent and variety of traces of past land use at and close to the Sami settlements in Tjeggelvas, it is conceivable that this occupancy may have had extensive effects on the local environment. The two settlement sites, easily distinguishable in the field, were abandoned about a century ago and have subsequently been reforested. Both settlements formerly encompassed about 3 - 4 ha, in accordance with dimensions of settled areas published by Hicks (1995) and Östlund et al. (2003), who also studied past Sami land use patterns (II). At present, numerous birches and a few large, very old pines cover the dwelling sites (Fig. 10). The settlement sites differ substantially from the surrounding forest in several ways. In general, the forest at the settlement sites is dominated by birch and is much younger (mean age c. 140 - 190 years) than in the surrounding landscape, where the mean age often exceeds 300 years (II). In addition, the volumes of dead wood, in particular standing dead trees, are much lower in the forest at and close to the former settlement (II). The difference in dead wood characteristics is also illustrated by the lower volumes of dead wood in later decay stages near the settlements (II). These disparities suggest that the



settlement site used to be much more open -a result of cutting both living and dead trees for firewood and wooden constructions.



*Figure 10.* Forest structure at a Sami settlement site, Tjeggelvas. The settlement was used for approximately 300 years until the beginning of the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century when it was abandoned and the area has since been reforested. (Photo by Torbjörn Josefsson)

Closer examination of the palaeoecological data provides additional information regarding the human impact on the vegetation near the settlements. According to the pollen records there was a pronounced increase in apophytes, i.e. taxa closely related to human activities, starting approximately 400 years ago at one of the Sami dwellings (Fig. 11a) (I). Noteworthy in this respect is the pronounced presence of grasses (Poaceae) and sorrel (Rumex acetosa/acetosella). According to Räsänen (2001), human activities close to settlements (physical disturbance and nutrient addition) promotes a greater variety of herbs, especially sorrel, but also Achillea, Epilobium and Solidago species. Interestingly, in Sami tradition common sorrel (Rumex acetosa L.) was a highly appreciated food source and therefore harvested in large amounts (Fjellström, 1985; Qvarnström, 2006). Today, sorrel species are very uncommon in this pine forest landscape. Another interesting find is the occurrence of cereal pollen at six levels in the lithostratigraphy, which strongly indicates intense land use, including smallscale cultivation at the settlement site (c. 100 - 350 years ago) (I). These

findings are highly illuminating, since the extent and kind of cultivation the Sami may have practiced is largely unknown.



*Figure 11.* Percentage pollen diagrams obtained from sample sites from: a) a Sami semipermanent settlement, and b) the agrarian settlement Akkapakte. Pollen types and microscopic charred particles in percentages (solid) and  $10 \times$  magnification (lined). Only pollen types relevant for the discussion in this thesis are included. Redrawn from Paper I.

About 80 km northwest of this settlement lies the abandoned agrarian settlement Akkapakte, which was also included in the palaeoecological analysis. The pollen record from Akkapakte indicates that this settlement was established at about the same time as the Sami settlements described above, i.e. about 400 years ago when there was a change in forest structure to more open conditions (Fig. 11b) (I). However, here a different assemblage of species related to human activities appeared, including juniper, grasses, sedges and some other apophytes, indicative of farming of domesticated animals (I). Sedges were the preferred sources of fodder for domesticated animals in these harsh environments (Campbell, 1948; Segerström, 1990) and, according to Aronsson (1991), a strong increase in sedge is a possible indicator of hay-making at or near the sampled mire. Thus, there are strong indications of farming of domesticated animals long before the inhabitants acquired property rights in the mid 19<sup>th</sup> century.

Consequently, long-term, low-intensity land use at settlement sites and the surrounding forest has promoted an open forest characterised by scattered old Scots pine trees, younger birch trees and a ground vegetation with distinct elements of herbs and grasses that otherwise are very rare in this ecosystem. The repeated cutting for firewood and wooden construction also decreased the abundance of dead wood, which may in turn have caused cascade effects on the diversity of epiphytic invertebrates, bryophytes and wood-decaying fungi (cf. Siitonen, 2001). Furthermore, as shown by

Palviainen *et al.* (2008), decomposing dead wood retains nitrogen rather effectively in boreal forest ecosystems, thus forming a long-term, small but steady pool of nutrients with a slow release rate. As a consequence, the long-term loss of dead wood in these rather nutrient-poor forests may also have substantially affected the input of nutrients to the soil. It has also been shown that long-term absence of major disturbances results in reductions in plant biomass and tree basal area, probably due to increases in phosphorus limitation (Wardle *et al.*, 2004). It is possible that long-term human land use may have restrained or delayed the progression toward more nutrient-poor conditions at the settlement sites (I).

#### 4.1.3 Environmental effects of reindeer herding

Small-scale reindeer herding was the main source of sustenance for many Sami families in the study region, as it was for many other groups of people throughout northern Eurasia. Among other people that have a long history of herding reindeer are the Nenets and the Chukchi in northern Siberia and the Dukha or Tsaatan people of northern Mongolia (Germeraad & Enebish, 1999; Vitebsky, 2005). Aronsson (1991), who studied possible indicator species of reindeer herding in northern Sweden, has suggested that both settlement and grazing/trampling in this kind of forest ecosystem favour grasses and some herbs, including sorrel and Melampyrum spp. The relatively high levels of Poaceae and Rumex pollen recorded close to one of the Sami settlements therefore point to reindeer activities in the area. Important artefacts indicative of past reindeer herding practices are tall, thin stumps (hereafter denoted lichen stumps) created by the herders cutting smaller trees on which arboreal lichens were abundant (Fig.12a), to allow their reindeer to feed on the lichens during periods when grazing was severely limited due to icy conditions (cf. Berg et al., 2009). In Tjeggelvas, large quantities of lichen stumps were recorded, and the majority were situated close to settlements (II).

In the vicinity of one of the dwellings the degraded remains of a fence, mainly built of dead pine trees, revealed an old reindeer enclosure, originally enclosing more than 1 000 ha (Fig. 12b) (I). Dendrochronological dating of the enclosure and lichen stumps shows that it was used for at least two centuries (c. 1700 to 1900) (II). The area formerly encompassed by the enclosure is unusually large – much larger than reindeer pens described, for example, by Manker (1968) and Ruong (1954), and lichen stumps within it shows that it was probably used for fencing reindeers all year around or a substantial part of the year. Furthermore, the amount of lichen stumps inside the former enclosure was estimated at c. eight per ha, implying that several

thousands of trees were cut in this area during a period covering at least two centuries (II). The repeated cutting of lichen stumps has caused differences in the current forest structure, including higher tree volumes



*Figure 12.* Remains of past reindeer herding practices: a) lichen stumps, Lulip Maida, northern Sweden, and b) much decayed parts of an old reindeer enclosure, Tjeggelvas. (Photos of the lichen stumps and the reindeer enclosure by Per-Erik Mukka and Torbjörn Josefsson, respectively)

inside the enclosure (c. 90 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>) than in the surrounding landscape (c. 70 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup>) (II). Almost certainly, these cuttings generated a more open forest with increased light conditions, in addition to the positive effects of reindeer herding, i.e. grazing (Stark *et al.*, 2000) and manuring in combination with trampling (Aronsson, 1991). This may have encouraged the regeneration of trees, and this is mirrored in the higher number of small and medium-sized trees (Fig. 13) (II). The cuttings may thus have contributed to the low number of large trees inside the enclosure at present (Fig. 13) (II).

This form of land use apparently encompassed areas of several km<sup>2</sup> and covered time periods lasting many centuries. In areas where the reindeer were kept fenced for long time periods, such as the reindeer enclosure described above, or where the reindeers were present in high densities, the structural and compositional effects on the forest can be substantial. As discussed by Suominen & Olofsson (2000), grazing, trampling and fertilisation by the animals may strongly influence the ground vegetation. This is manifested in the paleoecological data (I). There is also abundant evidence that extensive trampling and grazing can indirectly affect soil process such as soil respiration, decomposition, nutrient mineralization and



densities of soil-dwelling invertebrates (Stark *et al.*, 2000; Olofsson *et al.*, 2001; Suominen *et al.*, 2003).



13. Figure Diameter distribution of pine (left) and birch (right) trees in the decayed reindeer enclosure (open bars) and the surrounding forest (solid bars) (mean and S.E.), Tjeggelvas. From Paper II.

#### 4.1.4 Movements across the landscape

Similarly to other pastoralists inhabiting boreal forests in Eurasia, Sami reindeer herders followed their reindeer closely all year around, moving from place to place within a well-defined area (Vorren, 1978; Vainshtein, 1980; Arundale & Jones, 1989; Vitebsky, 2005). Generally, they utilised the same areas year after year. Historical records of the region encompassing Tjeggelvas demonstrate that the area used by a reindeer herding family, consisting of two to four households according to Hultblad (1968), could cover several hundred km<sup>2</sup>, and that this land use seems to have been confined to certain land units – at least until the  $17^{th}$  century or early  $18^{th}$  century in some areas (III). In addition, it appears that these land units were utilised by few people and featured several different vegetation types (III).

The demographic data show that the mean size of a reindeer herding family ranged from 8 - 16 persons, hence the population density during the  $18^{th}$  and  $19^{th}$  centuries was very low – approximately 0.08 persons per km<sup>2</sup> (III). These estimates are higher than the upper limits (c. 0.04 persons per km<sup>2</sup>) obtained for hunter-gatherer societies in sparsely populated areas in several previous studies on group sizes and hierarchic structure (cf. Johnson & Earle, 1987; Kosse, 1990). However, they are substantially lower than the characteristic densities (up to five persons per km<sup>2</sup>) of societies relying on hunting, fishing and gathering supplemented with pastoralism or farming.

This is not surprising, since northerly forest areas have extremely low productivity and the conditions are very poor for farming, thus population densities exceeding one person per km<sup>2</sup> would have been very unlikely. The historical records also indicate that there were fluctuations in population size over time, probably reflecting climatic fluctuations, epidemics and instability in subsistence, for example unfavorable conditions for reindeer herding, as suggested by Hultblad (1968) and Kvist (1987).



*Figure 14.* Spatial configuration of areas of different vegetation types and lakes in a land area used by one reindeer herding family, Tjeggelvas. The seasonal use of the areas is indicated on the map. © Lantmäteriverket 1998, dnr 507-98-4720. Modified from Paper III.

A closer examination of the spatial configuration of the land used by the reindeer herders shows that the landscape encompasses a variety of environmental features, including pine and mountain birch forests, mires, lakes and mountain heath (Fig. 14) (III). It also appears that the land was covered by distinct proportions of different vegetation types. While only a small proportion of the land was covered by lakes and mires (about a tenth), pine and mountain birch forest covered approximately three fifths of the land and mountain heath nearly a third (III). This environmental variety provided the people with summer and winter pastures as well as suitable areas for hunting and good fishing lakes, utilised in different parts of the year (Table I) (III). However, during the late 18<sup>th</sup> and 19<sup>th</sup> century increases in numbers of people and sizes of herds eventually led to shortages of high

quality pastures (especially summer grazing areas) and increasing pressure on natural resources such as good fishing lakes. Consequently, settlement patterns changed and even larger areas were covered in the seasonal movements.

Vegetation type	Season	Main land-use activities		
Pine forest	Winter/spring	Reindeer herding, hunting, collection of pine inner bark		
Mountain birch forest	Spring/autumn	Reindeer herding, hunting, collection of birch wood and bark, collection of edible plants		
Mountain heath	Summer	Reindeer herding		
Mire	Spring/autumn	Collection of berries and sedges		
Lake	All seasons – occasionally	Fishing		

Table 1. Sami seasonal land use activities in different environmental settings. From Paper III.

Thus, land use and movement patterns up to the late 19<sup>th</sup> century reflect intricate relationships between demographic changes, reindeer herding practices and the spatial and environmental configuration of the utilised land (III). The seasonal movements over vast areas with local variations in land use, characteristic for the Sami reindeer herders in northern Sweden, are not exceptional. On the contrary, they are typical of many pastoralist and hunter-gatherer societies, for example the Nenets and Komi reindeer herders (Dwyer & Istomin, 2008) in Siberia and the Koyukon people (now sedentary) in Alaska (Nelson, 1983), who have inhabited northerly forest areas in Eurasia and North America for long periods of time.

### 4.2 Early commercial logging

In contrast to the long history of land use by indigenous people, northerly boreal and subarctic forest landscapes have generally had only a brief history of logging. Early commercial loggings were mainly concentrated in areas close to waterways and forest roads (Hoppe, 1945; Arpi, 1959). The relationships between logging, forest structure and both the frequencies and relative proportions of fungal species may be very complex and require careful interpretation. In pine-dominated ecosystems these relationships have been previously studied by several authors, for example Junninen et al. (2006) and Sippola et al. (2002), but largely focusing on differences between production forests and forests with low levels of past logging (such as those at Eggelats and Vaksamvare). Comparisons between un-logged forests and forests with low levels of logging are very scarce. It is often assumed that the first commercial loggings, such as those carried out in northern Fennoscandia in the late 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> centuries, are of minor importance for the structure and composition of contemporary boreal forests. In addition, the negative effects of logging are predominately believed to increase along a gradient of increasing logging intensity. However, these presumptions have not been previously tested. A comparison of the unprotected, selectively cut forests in Vaksamvare and Eggelats with the un-logged forest in Tjeggelvas nature reserve revealed interesting information regarding these relationships.



*Figure 15.* Signs of past logging events: logging blaze with a stamp on an old Scots pine tree, Jelka-Rimakåbbå, northern Sweden, and b) high grading stump, Jovan, northern Sweden. (Photos of logging blaze and high grading stump by Torbjörn Josefsson and Lars Östlund, respectively)

During the field inventories in Vaksamvare and Eggelats imprints of past logging activities were detected, of which logging stumps are the most evident (IV). Logging stumps can be divided into several categories depending on the methods used for felling the trees and the time since the cutting. In northern Fennoscandia, as in most other forest regions, the initial forest exploitation included high grading of the most valuable trees, i.e. the largest and straightest pines (cf. Östlund, 1995). Each tree intended for felling was marked using a special axe with a stamp on the reverse side (Fig. 15a). The trees, generally Scots pine, were then cut by axe leaving high, voluminous stumps that are still clearly discernible and easy to identify (Fig. 15b). Subsequent selective cuttings generally included felling of trees of



various sizes with a manual handsaw. The recorded stumps provide evidence of several periods of early cuttings in both Vaksamvare and Eggelats.



*Figure 16.* Distribution of lying dead trees (on which fruiting bodies of wood-inhabiting fungi were recorded) in different a) diameter-classes, and b) decay stages. From Paper IV.

Comparisons between the selectively cut forests and the un-logged forest of Tjeggelvas show that past loggings have resulted in lower tree volumes and tree ages, fewer standing dead trees and high stumps, and a slightly skewed tree diameter distribution with fewer large-diameter trees ( $\geq$  50 cm in diameter) in Eggelats and Vaksamvare (IV). Since dead trees and stumps are key elements of biodiversity in Fennoscandian coniferous forests, the reductions in abundance of these elements may have been disadvantageous for a range of species (Linder & Östlund, 1998; Niemelä *et al.*, 2002). In both Vaksamvare and Eggelats the loggings have reduced not only the total volume of dead wood, but also (perhaps most importantly) numbers of medium-sized logs (20 – 39 cm in diameter) in early and intermediate stages of decomposition (Fig. 16a-b) (IV). Findings of many studies, including Bader et al. (1995) and Renvall (1995), indicate that these two variables are crucially important for the diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi.

A closer look at the species assemblages of wood-inhabiting fungi shows that species abundance (defined as the number of logs on which each detected species was recorded in the sampled plots) and species composition radically differs in the three studied forests (Fig. 17). Apparently, relatively

minor differences in past human land use and their persistent legacy are today visible in the form of differences in species composition. Thus,



17. Two-dimensional Figure solution for non-metric а multidimensional scaling (NMS) ordination of the species composition of wood-inhabiting fungi in Eggelats (eg), Vaksamvare (va) and Tjeggelvas (tj). Each study site is represented by three transects (▲). The NMS ordination clearly shows that the species composition differs among the three study sites and that the variation within sites is highest in Vaksamvare and lowest in Tjeggelvas. From Paper IV.

variations in the persisting legacy of past human land use, due to relatively minor differences in practices, can be still observed in differences in species composition. For example, the number of species per log was significantly lower in Vaksamvare than in both Eggelats and Tjeggelvas. However, the loggings do not seem to have affected the total number of species or the number of red-listed species present per unit area (Gärdenfors, 2005). Nevertheless, the total number of records and the abundance of red-listed species were much higher in Tjeggelvas, indicating that selective cuttings may have a negative impact on species at risk of extinction (Table 2) (IV). Similar results have been published by other authors, for example, Sippola *et al.* (2004).

Overall, the selective loggings carried out in the late 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> centuries have affected both dead wood characteristics, including the quantity and quality of the lying dead trees, and the abundance of common and red-listed wood-inhabiting fungi (Fig. 18). Contrary to expectations, the impact of logging on forest structure and species composition was higher in Vaksamvare than in Eggelats, although the intensity was lower (22 cut stumps ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to 26 cut stumps ha<sup>-1</sup>). The higher impact of selective cuttings in Vaksamvare appears to have been due to a combination of the types of logging carried out (more high grading) and the numbers of trees removed, indicating that the relationships between past logging and present

forest characteristics are very complex. This implies that estimations of logging effects cannot be based solely on logging intensity, and that the interpretation of logging gradients requires both quantitative and qualitative data on logging history and forest characteristics.

Species	Status <sup>ª</sup>	Vaksamvare	Eggelats	Tjeggelvas	Total
Aleurodiscus lividocoeruleus	NT			2	2
Anomoporia kamtschatica	NT		4		4
Antrodia albobrunnea	VU	18	32	31	81
Antrodia primaeva	EN			2	2
Ceraceomerulius albostramineus	VU		1		1
Gloeophyllum protractum	VU		1	6	7
Hydnellum gracilipes	EN	1	2	3	6
Junghuhnia luteoalba	NT			1	1
Odonticium romellii	NT	25	30	63	118
Oligoporus hibernicus	NT		8	17	25
Oligoporus lateritus	VU	1	2	2	5
Phellinus nigrolimitatus	NT	5			5
Phlebia femsioeensis	DD	1			1
Physodontia lundellii	VU	2			2
Skeletocutis kuehneri	NT	1	1		2
Skeletocutis lenis	VU	4	12	16	32
Trichaptum laricinum	NT	1		4	5
Total		59	93	147	299
<sup>a</sup> NT = near threatened, VU = vulnerable, EN = endangered, DD = Data deficient					

Table 2. List of red-listed species of wood-inhabiting fungi recorded at the three study areas and in total. Status according to Gärdenfors (2005). From Paper IV.

### 4.3 Cumulative effects of human impact

Focusing solely on a specific form of land use, during a limited period of time, may generate excellent information on a specific resource use, but will inevitably lead to failure to understand the overall magnitude and complexity of the relationship between humans and the land. All forms of human activities that may have occurred within the studied space should be considered. This adds considerable complexity to analyses covering larger spatial scales because of the difficulties of separating effects of natural disturbance from human-induced changes (Foster *et al.*, 1999; Urbieta *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, the relative importance of natural and anthropogenic

disturbance can shift over time due, for example, to the cessation of certain types of land use, or abrupt events such as large-scale windthrow or fire. This is accentuated in northerly boreal landscapes where many types of past human land use were subtle and often not well known in terms of their form, extent or effects on the forest ecosystem. The creation of lichen stumps by Sami reindeer herding activities mentioned in section 4.1.3 provides an example, since they are present in great numbers, indicating that their creation had a considerable impact on forest structure, yet they are rarely recognised today and thus have been previously overlooked.



*Figure 18.* Close up photo of *Antrodia primaeva* Renvall & Niemelä, a very rare polyporous fungus thriving on dead pine wood. Categorised as endangered according to the IUCN red-list criteria. (Photo by Wjatcheslav Spirin)

#### 4.3.1 Gradients and patterns

Human land use takes place over a range of spatial and temporal scales, creating environmental gradients and complex patterns across landscapes (cf. Hammett, 1992; Mladenoff *et al.*, 1993; Foster *et al.*, 1999; Smith & McNees, 1999; Urbieta *et al.*, 2008). One important conclusion of this thesis is, therefore, that studies of past human impact require a complex, multidimensional blueprint for carefully considering these aspects. Otherwise, the risks of neglecting important disturbance events or misinterpreting present forest characteristics are substantial.

Furthermore, environmental gradients related to past land use can be explained by changes in land use intensity with distance from specific locations, such as settlements, and/or with increases in ecologically relevant variables, such as altitude and latitude (Hammett, 1992; Foster *et al.*, 1999). Marked differences in overall human impact can be expected between areas where people have lived for recurrent periods and areas that were visited only occasionally. In the Tjeggelvas area we can decipher certain detailed gradients in the forest that are related to past, low-intensity human land use.



In section 4.1.2 the immediate effects of such activities close to settlement sites are discussed. For example, trees may have been cut for firewood or building constructions far from the actual dwelling around a settlement site, and within this area dead trees and trees of certain species may have been successively removed, but the further from the settlement, the less intense the collection of wood is likely to have been. Similarly, collection of the inner bark of trees is likely to have been most intensive near settlements and temporary campsites. Thus, centuries of settlement and associated land uses can create explicit, and sometimes persistent, gradients around a specific locus (Fig. 19).



*Figure 19.* Age structure of the forest surrounding a Sami settlement (mean and S.E.). The forest is much younger at the settlement site than in the surrounding forest, but gradually increases in age with increasing distance from the dwelling site (up to two km from the location of the hut). Unpublished data, Tjeggelvas.

The formation of environmental patterns across a forest landscape may partly be explained as the result of specific land use activities that are, or were, quite restricted in space and time, for example Sami reindeer herding in areas where the animals are kept fenced at specific times during the year (cf. Ruong, 1945; Manker, 1968), and indigenous Americans' frequent burning of forest in certain areas to facilitate cultivation and aid hunting (cf. Cronon, 1983; Whitney, 1994; Delcourt & Delcourt, 2004). Such forms of land use, carried out regularly in certain places, may produce patches of forest that are substantially different from the surrounding landscape in terms of structure, composition and wildlife. Two illustrative examples of this are the Iroquois' deliberate use of fire, which altered tree species composition, both locally and at larger scales in Ontario, Canada (Clark & Royall, 1995), and the shifting cultivation practiced by the local Finnish population up to the early 20<sup>th</sup> century in northern Karelia, which caused specific, persistent patterns of tree species composition and age structure across whole

landscapes (Lehtonen & Huttunen, 1997). Some land uses were also practiced along corridors running through the landscape, for example hunter/gatherers collecting resources along trails and Sami herders moving reindeer between regularly used campsites (as described in sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.4). Typically, such routes were tended, and marked by small piles of stone on the ground or blazes cut on trees that were regularly amended. In North America several indigenous people used fire to clear such routes (Lewis, 1985).

#### 4.3.2 A matrix of different kinds of land use

When considered at larger temporal and spatial scales, the interpretation of land use gradients and patterns becomes more complex. Across landscapes, the signs and effects of several forms of land use, each with a specific spatial extension, time depth and intensity, may interact and overlap both in time and space, creating several 'layers' of land use that are discernible to varying degrees in varying places. The result is a matrix of diverse gradients and patterns, in which some areas have been heavily affected by an array of different land uses for extensive periods of time whereas other parts may have practically escaped human exploitation (cf. Zerbe, 2004; Östlund & Bergman, 2006).

Taking the upper part of the Pite River valley as an example, a mosaic of land use can be visualised. Throughout this valley Sami reindeer herders have utilised the forests and mountain heaths for many centuries (as described in sections 4.1.1-4). At settlement sites such as Munka and other locations in the landscape where specific resources are abundant, they erected several kinds of wooden constructions. Near these places various activities were carried out extensively, for example cutting of trees and small-scale cultivation. In the forest surrounding the settlement site the herders kept their reindeers, either roaming free or inside fences – depending on the time of the year. Over large areas they collected firewood and in the spring they harvested inner-bark. Extending outwards from these loci other forms of land use were performed, for example hunting along trap lines and gathering other specific resources (Fig. 20). These forms of land use were also repeated in various other parts of the landscape since the herders moved seasonally between different settlement sites.



*Figure 20.* Map of the central parts of Tjeggelvas nature reserve showing interpolated data on numbers of cultural objects per hectare, the locations of two abandoned Sami settlements (•) and the area encompassed by the remains of an old reindeer enclosure. © Lantmäteriet 1998, dnr 507-98-4720

Furthermore, as the scale is increased other forms of land use add further layers to this mosaic. At certain places along the river valley small agricultural settlements were established during the 19<sup>th</sup> century. These permanent settlements required larger areas and introduced new types of land use, for example farming of domesticated animals and hay-making, which also formed gradients and patterns around the settlements. Moving forward in time and down the river valley the traditional forms of land use by Sami people are often overlain by more extensive agricultural land use and more recent forms of forest utilisation, logging in particular, which have masked (and sometimes obliterated) many of the signs of the previous uses. As demonstrated in section 4.2, these loggings were far from uniform in character; logging in different periods was directed towards different types of trees, resulting in clear dissimilarities in both the spatial extent and the intensity of the cuttings.

Most importantly, although the immediate effect of a certain land use may seem insignificant, its cumulative effects may be extensive if carried out over long periods of time (Foster *et al.*, 2003; Briggs *et al.*, 2006; Willis & Birks, 2006). Accordingly, interpretation of the many different patterns and gradients of past land use, varying in strength and intensity, and the resulting mosaic of human disturbance, in contemporary forest landscapes is perhaps the most challenging task in historical ecology since so much detailed information is needed and so much complexity is involved. In northern boreal 'pristine forests' a characteristic feature is the presence, within very old forest ecosystems with few tree species, of subtle gradients and patterns, which might be related to factors other than those normally expected in temperate forests and regions that have been used for agriculture in the past.

# 4.4 Sources and strategies for studying land use in northerly forests

Linking ecology, history and archaeology to study past human land use and both its immediate and continuing effects on the environment is not an easy task, and I think there are several reasons for this. In general, studying past human land use is problematic, since the legacies of past anthropogenic activities, including low-intensity land use by indigenous people, may last for many centuries and interact with natural disturbance in ways that make their environmental effects very difficult to discern in the field (Foster et al., 2003). Choosing the appropriate timeframe can be also problematic. Often a much too short time perspective is applied in ecological studies in analyses of processes that have shaped contemporary forest landscapes. For example, Willis & Birks (2006) found that timeframes of more than a few decades are rarely applied in modern biodiversity assessments. However, to understand ecosystem processes operating at landscape or larger scales, including those affecting long-lived organisms such as trees, timeframes encompassing centuries to millennia are more appropriate (Fuller et al., 1998; Swetnam et al., 1999; Willis & Birks, 2006). Furthermore, careful attention also has to be paid to the methods to be applied.

#### 4.4.1 Methodological considerations

As noted by Briggs et al. (2006), deciphering the relationships between land use and the structure and function of ecosystems requires data spanning long time depths, which can be accessed through archaeological records. Some archaeological records tell of land use practices that may have had an impact on the forest ecosystem (for example cut stumps). Other traces, like barkpeeling scars and tree blazes, indicate land use that did not have any effect on either forest structure or vegetation composition. These traces form a vital part of the archaeological and biological record since they may aid the interpretation of past human activity in that they can tell of specific events that have taken place in the area and add context to the intensity of land use (Prince, 2001; Östlund *et al.*, 2002; Hageneder, 2003). Yet, no meaningful interpretations can be made about the type or magnitude of certain land use practices unless the archaeological record is correlated to the people who created and maintained the archaeological artefacts (Binford, 1980). Such correlations can be drawn using various archival sources. By combining demographic data and physical land descriptions with modern environmental information quantitative estimates of impacts of land use can eventually be obtained.

Furthermore, the great longevity of many tree species in boreal ecosystems provides good opportunities to analyse events related to human land use far back in time by using dendrochronology. To aid the analysis of tree ring patterns, a local chronology of specific years or series of years in which wood with distinctive properties was produced, for example very dense and dark late wood, can be initially established (Table 3). These so-called pointer years are very useful in the interpretation of past disturbance events, for example to see if they coincide with climatically extreme years (cf. Niklasson *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, abrupt changes in ring patterns of mature trees are mainly caused by marked changes in tree growth rates. Such growth responses provide powerful indicators of past disturbance events, for example climatic changes, fires, storms or human activities (cf. Lorimer, 1980; Groven *et al.*, 2002; Josefsson *et al.*, 2005).

Analyses of pollen records provide even longer timeframes, and allow the interpretation of past changes in vegetation composition due to human activities. Traditionally, human impact on vegetation cover has been interpreted from reductions in arboreal pollen percentages (indicating forest clearance), increases in percentages of grass and herb pollen (signifying increases in open land), and the appearance of pollen from cereals and ruderal plants (Behre, 1988; Birks et al., 1998). Even in northern Fennoscandia most previous research on past human activity has focused on regional vegetation history in relation to the introduction of agriculture, including farming of domesticated animals or slash and burn activities (Vorren, 1986; Hicks, 1988; Segerström, 1990). However, I believe that to identify and interpret other forms of human activity in northern boreal forests alternative approaches must be used. Because human activity are mostly restricted to certain localities in the landscape the peat samples should be collected from carefully selected forest hollows or small ombrotrophic peat mires (cf. Bradshaw, 1988; Calcote, 1998) (Fig. 21). These should be carefully examined and compared to samples from several other sites or reference areas (to distinguish regional climate signals from local patterns of changes). Especially important is the interpretation of taxa that are rare in the studied forest in the pollen records.

Table 3. Pointer years obtained from cores of 35 very old Scots pine trees in the three study areas.

Year	Туре	Ring characteristics
1575	1	Wide ring with dark late wood
1601	3	Very thin ring, sometimes absent
1641	3	Thin ring, followed by several thin rings throughout the decade
1655	1	Ring with dark late wood
1671	1	Ring with dark late wood
1680	3	Very thin ring, sometimes absent
1688	3	Thin ring
1703	1	Very wide ring with dark late wood
1704	2	Ring with light late wood
1741	3	Thin ring
1744	1	Ring with dark late wood
1766	1	Wide ring with very dark late wood
1772	2	Ring with light late wood
1776	1	Wide ring with dark late wood
1801	1	Wide ring
1813	3	Thin ring
1821	3	Thin ring
1826	1	Very wide ring dark late wood
1831	1	Wide ring with dark late wood
1837	3	Very thin ring, sometimes absent
1844	3	Very thin ring, sometimes absent
1861	1	Wide ring with dark late wood
1868	1	Ring with dark late wood
1873	1	Ring with dark late wood
1881	3	Thin ring
1901	1	Very wide ring dark late wood
1902	2	Thin ring with light late wood
1934	1	Wide ring with very dark late wood
1937	1	Wide ring with very dark late wood
1959	1	Wide ring with dark late wood
(1) Ring	with der	nse and dark late wood; (2) Ring with light late wood; (3) Narrow ring

However, all methods have limitations and problems associated with their application to particular ecosystems may be difficult to foresee. Specific problems encountered in the palaeoecological approach were difficulties in choosing appropriate pollen sampling sites in remote forests where no indicative data were available. Since past human land use is often difficult to distinguish in the field, the sample site had to be verified by archaeological

46

information. Furthermore, the interpretation of different pollen taxa (anthropogenic indicators) and their relation to specific forms of past land uses was also problematic. Since the traditional interpretation of anthropogenic indicators is based on human land use in rather different contexts and ecosystems (cf. Vorren, 1986; Behre, 1988; Bos & Janssen, 1996), new such indicators have to be identified and alternative interpretations of the pollen record are required in studies of northern boreal ecosystems with historically low levels of human presence. In addition, in the dendrochronological analyses unexpectedly high degrees of heart-rot in old pine trees were encountered that hindered determination of the ages of the oldest trees. For the use of historical records other problems emerged. The historical records complement the biological archives in many ways, but they are limited in time and sometimes important records are incomplete or impossible to decipher. An unfortunate circumstance is the lack of very important data such as old reindeer counts and changes in reindeer numbers over time.



Figure 21. Collection of peat samples from a small ombrotrophic peat mire, Tjeggelvas. (Photo: Torbjörn Josefsson)

#### 4.4.2 How to combine different methods

As mentioned above, one of my aims in this thesis is to present 'a set of tools' that can be used to decipher the ways northern boreal forests have

been affected by anthropogenic land use. As pointed out by other authors, for example Östlund & Bergman (2006), the traditional methods and interpretations applied in landscape studies cannot necessarily be applied to more northern regions. By combining the different methodologies described in this thesis with new ways of interpreting and analysing data, human impact on northern boreal ecosystems can be better assessed (Fig. 22). Accordingly, each methodological approach underlying this thesis may be seen as a piece of a jigsaw puzzle, some pieces of which have been joined together, while other pieces remain to be linked and others are currently missing. To fit all the pieces together a careful strategy is needed. In my opinion an effective way to do this is to conduct the research in order of time-depth, starting with the long-term records. First, superficial archaeological field surveys and overviews of literature and other historical sources may identify places where more in-depth studies may be most fruitful. Secondly, palaeoecological analysis gives a long-term perspective on vegetational changes and helps to identify particularly interesting time periods. Thirdly, dendrochronological analysis provides high-resolution data on forest characteristics at local and landscape scales, including the precise dates of important historical events. Fourthly, historical records can put human "...flesh on the carbon-based bones of forest history" (Williams, 2000). Lastly, ecological field surveys of certain structural elements or species groups may generate information on effects of identified land uses on biodiversity. Based on the obtained knowledge, implications of past land use for conservation management and scientific research can finally be assessed.



*Figure 22.* Conceptual model of the different methodologies applied in this thesis to analyse and interpret temporal and spatial gradients of human land use in northerly boreal forest ecosystems.

### 4.5 The value of studying pristine forest landscapes

Forest landscapes such as that of Tjeggelvas nature reserve constitute the remains of the vast expanses of forest that once blanketed large parts of the northern hemisphere. It is unique from a Fennoscandian (and European) perspective for a number of reasons. The forest in itself is captivating and impressive because of its remote setting adjacent to the Caledonian mountain range, its great age, structural heterogeneity and biological values. That large parts of this forest landscape have not been commercially logged is also remarkable. It has practically escaped exposure to agricultural activities, and there are no signs of common minor forest uses, such as production of tar or charcoal. Hence, it could be viewed as the archetypal pristine boreal pine forest of northern Europe. Nevertheless, forests are not pristine simply because they seem to be untouched and wild – the potential effect of pre-industrial land use should always be taken into consideration, since (as I have shown in this thesis) humans may have used forests like Tjeggelvas for centuries, or even millennia.

### 4.5.1 Approaching a definition of pristine forest

For generations, the northernmost part of Fennoscandia has been utilised by people with hunting- and fishing-based subsistence strategies and Sami reindeer herders. In North America, such forests have been the home to Koyukon people in the northwest, the Cree, Iroquois and Innu in the northeast (Nelson, 1980; Brody, 1988; Ray, 1996), and the Chukchi, Evenki, Koryak, Nenets and Yukagir (among others) in northern Russia and Siberia (Vainshtein, 1980; Golovnev & Osherenko, 1999; Vitebsky, 2005). Clearly, to these people the term pristine forest does not conjure up images of a forest untouched by humans, neither is it synonymous with areas of vast wilderness. Returning to the opening question about what a pristine forest really signifies, we realise that the answer largely depends on who we ask and how we define concepts such as pristine. Theoretically, a 'pristine forest' can be defined as an environment devoid of humans. In practice, however, no contemporary forests can be seen as pristine since human influence on the world's forests is all-pervasive (cf. Peterken, 1996; Rouvinen & Kouki, 2008).

One important realisation is that 'pristine' is intimately related to 'natural'. However, what is considered as natural depends on many ecological, historical, temporal and cultural factors (Sprugel, 1991; Hull *et al.*, 2001; Povilitis, 2002; Willis & Birks, 2006). Natural can, for example, be seen as the antithesis to artificial, or a state in which the features of an environment derive strictly from factors that are not attributed to people.

According to Martinez (2003), the dichotomy between 'natural' and 'presence of people' is a product of the Western idea of natural, i.e. that humans are separate from nature. To many indigenous people worldwide there is no such contradiction, since they view themselves as an integral part of nature. This is in part a result of an expression of their animistic religious belief, their affiliation to the land, but also partly due to the long times these cultures have been interacting with their environment (Hammett, 1992; Martinez, 2003; Bergman, 2006). Consequently, whether humans should be seen as a part of nature or not is, I believe, also a philosophical question.

Regardless of the philosophical perspective, strict usage of 'pristine' would be useless in ecological research, as well as management for conservation and restoration, simply because no such forest exists. A certain degree of human impact may therefore be accepted in environments regarded as natural. However, if human influence is accepted, there are still large uncertainties regarding the extent and kind of land use that would be acceptable in a forest defined as natural. Since some forests are less affected by anthropogenic disturbance than others, they can also be said to display different degrees of 'naturalness'. This concept has a broader scope than 'natural' with implications that it incorporates not only the similarity to natural conditions, but also the extent of anthropogenic influence on the forest ecosystem. This makes the concept more useful, but one major disadvantage is that it is very difficult to quantify, since it is a continuous variable. For example, estimates such as high, medium or low levels of naturalness are difficult to interpret and compare with other data. Nevertheless, the concept of naturalness has been applied by some authors, for example, Uotila et al. (2002) using forest data and historical records to evaluate the extent to which past human influence has affected the current forest structure of protected forests in eastern Fennoscandia, and by Reif & Walentowski (2008) in assessments of its implications for nature conservation and forestry in central Europe.

How then may concepts such as 'pristine', 'old-growth' or 'natural' be defined? For a professional ecologist, forester or conservation manager, a wide-ranging definition of any of these terms is rarely feasible or desirable. In my opinion they are more useful when given a definition that is related to a particular place and time of interest. Furthermore, there are three important aspects that should be explicit components of any such definition, namely the forest characteristics and succession phase, spatial and temporal limits, and the historical impact by humans. In general, I believe that the concepts 'pristine', 'virgin' and 'primeval' can be used both in practice and in theory to describe the physical resemblance of a forest to a 'natural forest'.

On the other hand, 'natural' may often be better used in a theoretical sense, in accordance with assertions by Peterken (1996) that 'natural' is precise as a concept but imprecise as a descriptor of individual forests. Nevertheless, when referring to northern boreal pine forests in Fennoscandia I recommend that all concepts related to 'pristine' should be used with great caution since forests that may be appropriately termed pristine are extremely rare, and if they are used they should primarily be applied at the landscape level. Furthermore, many ecologists and foresters have used the concept 'old-growth forest' to describe a forest ecosystem with certain structural, compositional and functional attributes that may signify pristine conditions (Veblen et al., 1980; Franklin et al., 1981; Hofgaard, 1993; Sippola et al., 2002). When regarded as a stage in forest development this term may be very useful. However, when old-growth is used to depict a pristine forest ecosystem I believe it is erroneous, because it fails to acknowledge the variations in successional stages and other ecosystem changes caused by natural (as well as anthropogenic) disturbances and ecological (e.g. climatic) changes. Most forest ecosystems are far from stable, and will never reach an equilibrium state (Sprugel, 1991; Kimmins, 2003).

#### 4.5.2 Reference areas, conservation and cultural heritage

Using a combination of ecological and historical methods to study forest ecosystems, managed as well as unmanaged, serves many purposes. Studying forests that have escaped modern forest management is especially valuable. It increases our understanding of the complexity of past human activities and their interactions with the forest ecosystem. It also enhances our understanding of contemporary landscapes and their historical contexts, not only from an ecological perspective (Foster *et al.*, 1996), but also from a cultural point of view, i.e. that many 'pristine' forest landscapes are, in fact, cultural landscapes that have been shaped by human history (Foster *et al.*, 2004; Östlund & Bergman, 2006; Bürgi & Gimmi, 2007). Ultimately, it provides fundamental information for comparative, interdisciplinary studies and for conservation management (Gillson & Willis, 2004; Honney *et al.*, 2004).

An important lesson I have learned from the studies underlying this thesis is that forests in remote and inaccessible areas with no recent management cannot be indiscriminately used to represent 'natural' or 'pristine' reference conditions. Old secluded forests that give the impression of being undisturbed by human activities might be ecologically valuable in terms of intactness and biodiversity. Yet, as shown in this thesis, they may also have been utilised by humans for long periods of time, causing changes in forest

characteristics. Hence, pristine forest should not be equated to 'untouchedness' or forests with high biodiversity. Likewise, there is no clear relationship between untouchedness and high biodiversity. Occasionally, high biological value may develop in quite short periods of time, for example after grazing (Ericsson *et al.*, 2000) and sometimes human impact may enhance rather than reduce biodiversity in forest ecosystems (Sprugel, 1991; Peterken, 1996).

Furthermore, periodic disturbances and successional processes operating over a wide range of temporal and spatial scales are the main forces shaping the forest landscape and sustaining ecosystem function and biodiversity (Spies & Turner, 1999; Kuuluvainen, 2002). This means that the effects of any process in a certain location at a certain time will depend on the status and responses of the surrounding ecosystem or landscape. A forest landscape is composed of patches, and thus may be structurally very complex, unevenaged and affected by a multitude of disturbances (see discussion in section 4.3.2). Therefore, I suggest that forest areas such as Tjeggelvas may be regarded as pristine when a whole landscape is considered and may well be suitable sources of reference data on biodiversity and forest structure. Individual patches, however, may differ considerably from the overall landscape, and display marked variations in forest structure and composition. For example, some forest characters may have been altered locally where the land use has been more intense. Hence, designating a small patch as 'pristine forest' or using it to represent reference conditions is more problematic since it cannot be disconnected or detached from the surrounding landscape. In addition, using small sample sites to represent reference conditions requires very careful historical investigations, since ignoring the historical dimension may greatly increase the risk of misinterpreting ecological data acquired from the present forest ecosystem (Bürgi & Gimmi, 2007).

Another important aspect concerns the protection and management of the types of forest studied here. In traditional conservation management one of the most important aspects is sustaining biodiversity (Margules & Pressey, 2000; Angelstam & Andersson, 2001). However, northerly forests regarded as 'pristine' are often attributed higher conservation values than forests that have clearly been modified by human activities (cf. Pollan, 1991; Cronon, 1995; Proctor, 1996; Er & Innes, 2003). In northern Fennoscandia, conservation strategies are frequently guided by the results of field surveys on present ecosystem characteristics (Anon, 2005; Norén *et al.*, 2005), and the presence of structural elements and current diversity of species (Karström, 1992; Bredesen *et al.*, 1997; Nitare, 2005). This implies that conservation efforts mainly aim to preserve current biodiversity, primarily in

forests believed to be pristine. This approach may be problematic for several reasons. To begin with, many of the forests that are assumed to be pristine do have a history of human activities. Furthermore, as discussed earlier in this section, ecosystems and their components change over time. Preventing ecosystem change, for example by fire suppression, can be seriously questioned in many ecosystems, and the assumption that the structure and composition of any current forests is the best descriptor of the forests' 'true' characteristics may be deceptive, since the forest we observe today may be more representative of past rather than current environments (Mladenoff *et al.*, 1993; Motzkin & Foster, 2004; Stevenson & Webb, 2004). This may be especially true for slow-growing northern forest ecosystems.

In my opinion, sound conservation management of forests that have not been subjected to industrial logging should be based on both present forest characteristics and past disturbance history - including human land use (Peterken, 1993; Gillson & Willis, 2004; Honney et al., 2004). More precisely, choosing the right criteria for conservation is crucial for appropriate management of the forest, as well as broad agreement regarding conservation objectives among different stakeholders. For instance, conservation values of forests depend on their size and type, as well as their historical context (Norton, 1996; Berglund & Jonsson, 2003; Ericsson et al., 2005). Too often the pristinity of a forest is referred to as the main criterion for forest protection. However, as discussed in this thesis and, for example, by Uotila et al. (2002) boreal forests in northern Fennoscandia with a pristine character are extremely rare features of today's forest landscapes. The Tjeggelvas forest is exceptional in this sense. I recommend that whenever concepts such as 'pristine forest' are applied in conservation efforts the reason for doing so should be well-founded. Taking Eggelats and Vaksamvare as examples, these two forests have been logged several times, with consequent effects on both dead wood characteristics and species composition of wood-inhabiting fungi, and they each cover less than five km<sup>2</sup>, which makes them quite small from a landscape perspective. Accordingly, these forests should not be referred to as pristine forests. Nevertheless, they are ecologically very valuable and in great need of protection. In my view more appropriate criteria for conservation and management of forests such as Eggelats and Vaksamvare could be based on forest type and biodiversity.

While sustaining biodiversity and pristinity are two important goals of forest conservation, another reason to protect and manage forests has been substantiated in this thesis, namely to preserve cultural heritage. Most traces of past human activities have been practically erased by newer forms of land

use, in particular industrial forestry. Pre-industrial settlement sites and trees that have been modified by humans for extraction of specific resources, marking trails and territories or for religious or ritual purposes (cf. Östlund *et al.*, 2002) are all rare features in today's boreal forests. I think that documenting and preserving such artefacts should be included in nature conservation efforts since they add unique qualities and make the protected forest more valuable (Östlund & Bergman, 2006; Bürgi & Gimmi, 2007). This would be in good accordance with the present social goals of environmental protection, preservation of the cultural heritage and provision of recreational opportunities (Koch & Kennedy, 1991).

# 5 Concluding remarks

The relationship between people and the environment has been shaped by many factors throughout history. The means of subsistence, social context and land affinity are all important determinants of how humans have chosen to use and shape the specific environment in which they live (Kosse, 1990; Haberl et al., 2001; Sejersen, 2004; Ostlund & Bergman, 2006). Several approaches can be applied to unravel this relationship and interpret the environmental effects of different forms of land use, for example combining pollen stratigraphies and historical records (old literature on vegetation and land use history) with archaeological findings, like Zerbe (2004) or with tree-ring chronologies like McLachan et al. (2000). The two cited studies emphasize the importance of an interdisciplinary approach to facilitate elucidation and understanding of the complex interplay of ecological, historical and geopolitical circumstances. As affirmed by Foster & Aber (2004), "...the challenge for ecologists is to integrate biology and environmental sciences with an understanding of the complexities of landscape history in order to forge meaningful interpretations of the present". This strategy has also been adopted in the studies underlying this thesis. They also argue that widespread pervasiveness of human land use requires human activity to be acknowledged as an ecological process, and that ecosystem changes, resulting from natural and anthropogenic disturbances, may be quite imperceptible to the human eye, making analysis and interpretations of these changes very difficult.

These are all relevant considerations when studying northern boreal forest landscapes. However, taking this reasoning a step further I argue that for these kinds of forest ecosystems analyses of the relationship between humans and the environment should encompass broad spatial areas and timeframes, within which the possible environmental effects of indigenous peoples' land uses are considered. As I have shown in this thesis, there may be many

different patterns and gradients of past land use, varying in strength and intensity, which have to be taken into account when interpreting human impact on contemporary forest landscapes. In addition, a clear strategy for choosing relevant methods and applying them in the right order should be adopted. Furthermore, a specific 'toolbox' should be used to detect and interpret anthropogenic disturbance in these forest ecosystems. Then, possibly pristine forests can be evaluated as reference areas for addressing scientific research questions and conservation management.

The methodological approaches used in the studies underlying this thesis are not only applicable to northern Fennoscandian boreal forests, but can also be applied to other northerly ecosystems. However, each forested region throughout the northern hemisphere has a unique human history and constellation of ecosystems. Thus, past and present environmental characteristics of each studied forest have to be considered in the light of their historical context. Furthermore, the methods used have generated interesting answers to the questions posed at the start of this thesis, but many questions remain unanswered. For example, can the cumulative imprint of human land use be seen as a set process, eventually leading to degenerated ecosystems with lowered productivity and biodiversity? Or, alternatively, can certain pre-industrial forms of land use maintain or even enhance productivity and biodiversity? Understanding low-productivity forest ecosystems' resilience, and thresholds for recovery, is crucial for conservation management as the world's climate is changing. Another fundamental research issue is the relationship between land use and forest fire in these ecosystems. For instance, why do large parts of the Tjeggelvas nature reserve show very few signs of past forest fire compared to the surrounding forest landscape and what are the ecological consequences of this?

In this thesis I show that the environmental impact of human subsistence and land use in northerly forest landscapes is far more complex and comprehensive than generally acknowledged. This gives reason to reconsider the allegedly pristine nature of these forests and perhaps to redefine the concept of pristinity. It also opens up new and exciting fields of research on the border between ecology and cultural history.

## References

- Agnoletti, M. & Andersen, S. (2000). *Methods and approaches in forest history. IUFRO research series 3.* New York: CABI Publishing.
- Ahti, T., Hämet-Ahti, L. & Jalas, J. (1968). Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. *Annales Botanici Fennici* 5(3), 169-211.
- Aksenov, D., Karpachevskiy, M., Lloyd, S. & Yaroshenko, A.Y. (1999). *The last of the last: the old-growth forests of boreal Europe.* Jokkmokk: Taiga Rescue Network.
- Andersson, R. (2005). *Historical land-use information from culturally modified trees.* Diss. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Umeå.
- Andersson, R., Östlund, L. & Törnlund, E. (2005). The last European landscape to be colonised: a case study of land-use change in the far north of Sweden 1850-1930. *Environment and History* 11, 293-318.
- Angelstam, P. & Majewski, P. (1996). Reference landscapes for improved landscape management in Eastern and Western Europe. In: Bachmann, P., et al. (Eds.) Assessment of biodiversity for improved forest management. European Forest Institute Proceedings No. 6. Joensuu: European Forest Institute. pp. 111-123.
- Angelstam, P. & Andersson, L. (2001). Estimating the amount of forest reserves needed to preserve biodiversity. In: Alexander, K. (Ed.) *Tools for preserving woodland biodiversity*. Göteborg: Pro Natura. pp. 25-34.
- Anon (2005). Nationell strategi för formellt skydd av skog [National strategy for formal protection of *forests*]. Stockholm: Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Swedish Forest Agency.
- Anon (2006a). Metsä-Lapin: suojelemattomat metsäerämaat [Threatened old-growth forest of forest Lapland]. Helsinki: Greenpeace Nordic, Finnish Nature League, Finnish Association for Nature Conservation.
- Anon (2006b). Skyddsvärda statliga skogar: samråd om områden på Statens Fastighetsverks markinnehav i Norrbotten, Västerbottens och Jämtlands län. Report 5573. Stockholm: Swedish Environmental Protection Agency.
- Anon (2008). *Hotade skogar i norr [Threatened forest in the north]*. Stockholm: The Swedish Society for Nature Conservation.
- Arell, N. (1979). Kolonisationen i Lappmarken: några näringsgeografiska aspekter. Stockholm: Esselte Studium AB.

- Aronsson, K.Å. (1991). Forest reindeer herding A.D. 1-1800: an archaeological and palaeoecological study in northern Sweden. Diss. University of Umeå. Umeå.
- Arpi, G. (1959). Sveriges skogar under 100 år: en sammanfattande redogörelse över det svenska skogsbruket 1859-1959. Stockholm: Domänverket.
- Arundale, W.H. & Jones, E. (1989). Historic land use processes in Alaska's Koyukuk River area. Arctic 42(2), 148-162.
- Bader, P., Jansson, S. & Jonsson, B.G. (1995). Wood-inhabiting fungi and substratum decline in selectively logged boreal spruce forests. *Biological Conservation* 72(3), 355–362.
- Behre, K.E. (1981). The interpretation of anthropogenic indicators in pollen diagrams. *Pollen* et Spores 23(2), 225-245.
- Behre, K.E. (1988). The role of man in European vegetation history. In: Huntley, B., et al. (Eds.) Handbook of vegetation science. Vol. 7, Vegetation history. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, cop. pp. 633-672.
- Berg, A., Östlund, L. & Gunnarson, B. (2009). "At this point, the lichens in the trees are their only means of survival" – the history of tree cutting by native Sami people to feed their reindeer. *Submitted manuscript*
- Berglund, H. & Jonsson, B.G. (2003). Nested plant and fungal communities; the importance of area and habitat quality in maximizing species capture in boreal old-growth forests. *Biological Conservation* 112, 319-328.
- Bergman, I. (1995). Från Döudden till Varghalsen. Diss. University of Umeå. Umeå.
- Bergman, I., Påsse, T., Olofsson, A., Zackrisson, O., Hörnberg, G., Hellberg, E. & Bohlin, E. (2003). Isostatic land uplift and Mesolithic landscapes: lake-tilting, a key to the discovery of Mesolithic sites in the interior of Northern Sweden. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 30(11), 1451–1458.
- Bergman, I., Östlund, L. & Zackrisson, O. (2004). The use of plants as regular food in ancient subarctic economies: A case study based on Sami use of Scots pine innerbark. *Arctic Anthropology* 41(1), 1-13.
- Bergman, I. (2006). Indigenous time, colonial history: Sami conceptions of time and ancestry and the role of relics in cultural reproduction. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 39(2), 151-161.
- Bergman, I., Liedgren, L.G., Östlund, L. & Zackrisson, O. (2008). Kinship and settlements: Sami residence patterns in the Fennoscandian alpine areas around A.D. 1 000. Arctic Anthropology 45(1), 97-110.
- Binford, L.R. (1980). Willow smoke and dogs' tails: hunter-gatherer settlement system and archaeological site formation. *American Antiquity* 45(1), 4–20.
- Birks, H.H., Birks, H.J.B., Kaland, P.E. & Moe, D. (1998). The cultural landscape: past, present and future. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bobkova, K.S., Galenko, E.P., Zagirova, S.V. & Patov, A.I. (2007). The composition and structure of virgin spruce forests in the urals foothills (the Upper Pechora River Basin). *Lesovedenie* 3, 23-31.
- Bos, J.A.A. & Janssen, C.R. (1996). Local impact of Palaeolithic man on the environment during the end of the last glacial in the Netherlands. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 23(5), 731-739.

- Bradshaw, R.H.W. (1988). Spatially precise studies of forest dynamics. In: Huntley, B., et al. (Eds.) Vegetation history. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp. 725-51.
- Bradshaw, R.H.W. & Hannon, G. (1992). Climatic-change, human influence and disturbance regime in the control of vegetation dynamics within Fiby Forest, Sweden. *Journal of Ecology* 80(4), 625-632.
- Bredesen, B., Haugan, R., Aanderaa, R., Lindblad, I., Økland, B. & Rosok, O. (1997). Wood-inhabiting fungi as indicators on ecological continuity within spruce forests of southeastern Norway. *Blyttia* 55(3), 131-140.
- Briggs, J.M., Spielmann, K.A., Schaafsma, H., Kintigh, K.W., Kruse, M., Morehouse, K. & Schollmeyer, K. (2006). Why ecology needs archaeologists and archaeology needs ecologists. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 4(4), 180–188.
- Brody, H. (1988). Maps and dreams. Vancouver: Douglas & McIntyre.
- Bryant, D., Nielsen, D. & Tangley, L. (1997). *The last frontier forests: ecosystems and economies* on the edge. Washington, DC: World Resource Institute.
- Bylund, E. (1956). Koloniseringen av Pite lappmark t.o.m. år 1867: The colonization of Pite lappmark until 1867. Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell.
- Bürgi, M. & Turner, M.G. (2002). Factors and processes shaping land cover and land cover changes along the Wisconsin River. *Ecosystems* 5(2), 184–201.
- Bürgi, M. & Gimmi, U. (2007). Three objectives of historical ecology: the case of litter collecting in Central European forests. *Landscape Ecology* 22, 77–87.
- Calcote, R. (1998). Identifying forest stand types using pollen from forest hollows. *Holocene* 8(4), 423-432.
- Campbell, Å. (1948). Från vildmark till bygd: en etnologisk undersökning av nybyggarkulturen i Lappland före industrialismens genombrott. Uppsala: Landsmåls- och folkminnesarkivet.
- Clark, J.S. & Royall, P.D. (1995). Transformation of a northernhHardwood forest by aboriginal (Iroquois) fire: charcoal evidence from Crawford Lake, Ontario, Canada. *Holocene* 5(1), 1-9.
- Cline, S.P. & Spurr, S.H. (1942). The virgin upland forest of central New England: a study of old growth stands in the Pisgah Mountain section of Southwestern New Hampshire. Harvard Forest Bulletin no. 21.
- Çolak, A.H., Rotherham, I.D. & Çalikoglu, M. (2003). Combining 'naturalness concepts' with close-to-nature silviculture. *Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt* 122, 421-431.
- Covington, W.W. & Moore, M.M. (1994). Southwestern Ponderosa forest structure: changes since Euro-American settlement. *Journal of Forestry* 92(1), 39-47.
- Cronon, W. (1983). Changes in the land: Indians, colonists, and the ecology of New England. New York: Hill and Wang.
- Cronon, W. (1995). The trouble with wilderness; or, getting back to the wrong nature. In: Cronon, W. (Ed.) *Uncommon ground: toward reinventing nature*. New York: W.W. Northon & Company. pp. 69-90.
- Delcourt, P.A. & Delcourt, H.R. (2004). *Prehistoric native Americans and ecological change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Denevan, W.M. (1992). The pristine myth: the landscape of the Americas in 1492. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 82, 369-385.

- Dettki, H. & Esseen, P.A. (1998). Epiphytic macrolichens in managed and natural forest landscapes: a comparison at two spatial scales. *Ecography* 21(6), 613–624.
- Dwyer, M.J. & Istomin, K.V. (2008). Theories of nomadic movement: A new theoretical approach for understanding the movement decisions of Nenets and Komi reindeer herders. *Human Ecology* 36(4), 521–533.
- Er, K.B.H. & Innes, J.L. (2003). The presence of old-growth characteristics as a criterion for identifying temperate forets of high conservation value. *International Forestry Review* 5(1), 1-8.
- Ericsson, S., Östlund, L. & Axelsson, A.L. (2000). A forest of grazing and logging: Deforestation and reforestation history of a boreal landscape in central Sweden. *New Forests* 19(3), 227-240.
- Ericsson, T.S., Berglund, H. & Östlund, L. (2005). History and forest biodiversity of woodland key habitats in south boreal Sweden. *Biological Conservation* 122(2), 289-303.
- Fjellström, P. (1985). Samernas samhälle i tradition och nutid: [Lappish society in tradition and the present day]. Stockholm: Nordstedt.
- Foster, D.R., Orwig, D.A. & McLachlan, J.S. (1996). Ecological and conservation insights from reconstructive studies of temperate old-growth forests. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 11(10), 419-424.
- Foster, D.R., Motzkin, G. & Slater, B. (1998). Land-use history as long-term broad-scale disturbance: regional forest dynamics in central New England. *Ecosystems* 1(1), 96-119.
- Foster, D.R., Fluet, M. & Boose, E.R. (1999). Human or natural disturbance: Landscapescale dynamics of the tropical forests of Puerto Rico. *Ecological Applications* 9(2), 555-572.
- Foster, D.R., Swanson, F., Aber, J.D., Burke, I., Brokaw, N., Tilman, D. & Knapp, A. (2003). The importance of land-use legacies to ecology and conservation. *Bioscience* 53(1), 77-88.
- Foster, D.R. & Aber, J. (2004). Forests in time: the environmental consequences of 1,000 years of change in New England. In: New Haven: Yale University Press. pp. ix-xii.
- Foster, D.R., Motzkin, G., O'keefe, J., Boose, E.R., Orwig, D.A., Fuller, J.L. & Hall, B. (2004). The environmental and human history of New England. In: *Forests in time: the environmental consequences of 1,000 years of change in New England*. New Haven: Yale University Press. pp. 43-100.
- Franklin, J.F., Cromak Jr., K., Dennison, W., McKee, A., Maser, C., Sedell, J.R., Swanson, F. & Juday, G. (1981). Ecological characteristics of old-growth Douglas-fir forests. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-118. Portland. OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. ISBN
- Frelich, L.E., Cornett, M.W. & White, M.A. (2005). Controls and reference conditions in forestry: the role of old-growth and retrospective studies. *Forestry* 103, 339–344.
- Fuller, T.L., Foster, D.R., McLachlan, T.S. & Drake, N. (1998). Impact of human activity on regional forest composition and dynamics in central New England. *Ecosystems* 1(1), 76– 95.
- Germeraad, P.W. & Enebish, Z. (1999). The mongolian landscape tradition: a key to progress: nomadic traditions and their contemporary role in landscape planning and management in Mongolia. Rhoon: Germeraad & Enebisch.
- Gillson, L. & Willis, K.J. (2004). 'As Earth's testimonies tell': wilderness conservation in a changing world. *Ecology Letters* 7(10), 990-998.

- Golovnev, A.V. & Osherenko, G. (1999). Siberian survival: the Nenets and their story. New York: Cornwell University Press.
- Groven, R., Rolstad, J., Storaunet, K.O. & Rolstad, E. (2002). Using forest stand reconstructions to assess the role of structural continuity for late-successional species. *Forest Ecology and Management* 164(1-3), 39-55.
- Gärdenfors, U. (2005). The 2005 red list of Swedish species. Uppsala: ArtDatabanken.
- Haberl, H., Batterbury, S. & Moran, E. (2001). Using and shaping the land: a long-term perspective. *Land Use Policy* 18(1), 1-8.
- Hageneder, F. (2003). Sacred trees in Siberian shamanism (Buryat tradition). *Frends of the trees* 1, 1-5.
- Hammett, J.E. (1992). The shapes of adaptation: historical ecology of anthropogenic landscapes in the southeastern United-States. *Landscape Ecology* 7(2), 121-135.
- Hansen, L.I. & Olsen, B. (2006). Samernas historia fram till 1750. Stockholm: Liber AB.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D.,
  Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack,
  K. & Cummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems.
  Advances in Ecological Research 15, 133-302.
- Hedman, S.-D. (2003). Boplatser och offerplatser: ekonomisk strategi och boplatsmönster bland skogssamer 700-1600 AD. Diss. University of Umeå. Umeå.
- Hellberg, E., Josefsson, T. & Östlund, L. (2009). The transformation of a Norway spruce dominated landscape since pre-industrial times in northern Sweden: the influence of modern forest management on forest structure. *Submitted manuscript*
- Helle, S. & Helama, S. (2007). Climatic variability and the population dynamics of historical hunter-gatherers: the case of Sami of northern Finland. *American Journal of Human Biology* 19, 844–853.
- Helms, J.A. (2004). Old-growth: what is it? Journal of Forestry 102(3), 8-12.
- Hesselman, H. (1935). Fibyskogen och dess utvecklingshistoria. Meddelanden från Statens Skogsförsöksanstalt 28:5.
- Hicks, S. (1988). The representation of different farming practices in pollen diagrams from northern Finland. In: Birks, H.H., et al. (Eds.) The cultural landscape: past, present and future. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp. 189–207.
- Hicks, S. (1995). The history of a wilderness area in Finnish Lapland as revealed by pollen analysis. *Arctic Centre Publications* 7, 126-140.
- Hofgaard, A. (1993). 50 years of change in a Swedish boreal old-growth *Picea abies* forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 4(6), 773-782.
- Honney, O., Verheyen, K., Bossuyt, B. & Hermy, M. (Eds.) (2004). Forest biodiversity: lessons from history for conservation. UFRO research series 10. Wallingford: CABI Pub. in association with the International Union of Forestry Research Organizations (IUFRO).
- Hoppe, G. (1945). Vägarna inom Norrbottens län: studier över den trafikgeografiska utvecklingen från 1500-talet till våra dagar. Uppsala: Lundequistska bokhandeln.
- Hull, R.B., Robertson, D.P. & Kendra, A. (2001). Public understandings of nature: a case study of local knowledge about "natural" forest conditions. *Society and Natural Resources* 14, 325-40.

- Hultblad, F. (1968). Övergång från nomadism till agrar bosättning i Jokkmokks socken [Transition from nomadism to farming in the parish of Jokkmokk]. Acta Lapponica XIV. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell/Gebers.
- Hörnberg, G., Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Bergman, I. (1999). The genesis of two Picea-Cladina forests in northern Sweden. Journal of Ecology 87(5), 800-814.
- Innes, J.B. & Er, K.B.H. (2002). Questionable utility of the frontier forest concept. *Bioscience* 52(12), 1095-1109.
- Iwaschkewitsch, B.A. (1929). Die wichstigen eigenarten der struktur und der entwicklung der urwaldsbestände. In: Proceedings of Proceedings of the 7th International Congress of Forestry Experimental Stations, Stockholm pp. 129-47.
- Johnson, A.W. & Earle, T. (1987). The evolution of human societies: from foraging group to agrarian state. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Jones, E.W. (1945). The structure and reproduction of the virgin forest of the north temperate zone. *New Phytologist* 44(2), 130-148.
- Josefsson, T., Hellberg, E. & Östlund, L. (2005). Influence of habitat history on the distribution of Usnea longissima in boreal Scandinavia: a methodological case study. *Lichenologist* 37, 555-567.
- Junninen, K., Simila, M., Kouki, J. & Kotiranta, H. (2006). Assemblages of wood-inhabiting fungi along the gradients of succession and naturalness in boreal pine-dominated forests in Fennoscandia. *Ecography* 29(1), 75-83.
- Jönsson, M.T., Fraver, S. & Jonsson, B.G. (2009). Forest history and the development of oldgrowth characteristics in fragmented boreal forests. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 20, 91–106.
- Karlsson, H., Hörnberg, G., Hannon, G. & Nordström, E.M. (2007). Long-term vegetation changes in the northern Scandinavian forest limit: a human impact-climate synergy? *Holocene* 17(1), 37-49.
- Karström, M. (1992). The project One step ahead: a presentation. *Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift* 86(3), 103-114.
- Kimmins, J.P. (2003). Old-growth forest: an ancient and stable sylvan equilibrium, or a relatively transitory ecosystem condition that offers people a visual and emotional feast? Answer – it depends. *The Forestry Chronicle* 79(3), 429-440.
- Koch, N.E. & Kennedy, J.J. (1991). Multiple-use forestry for social values. *Ambio* 20(7), 330-333.
- Kosse, K. (1990). Group size and societal complexity: thresholds in the long-term memory. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 9(3), 275-303.
- Kouki, J., Löfman, S., Martikainen, P., Rouvinen, S. & Uotila, A. (2001). Forest fragmentation in Fennoscandia: Linking habitat requirements of wood-associated threatened species to landscape and habitat changes. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 27-37.
- Kuuluvainen, T. (2002). Natural variability of forests as a reference for restoring and managing biological diversity in boreal Fennoscandia. *Silva Fennica* 36(1), 97-125.
- Kuuluvainen, T. (2009). Forest management and biodiversity conservation based on natural ecosystem dynamics in northern Europe: the complexity challenge. *Ambio* 66(6), 309– 315.
- 62

- Kvist, R. (1987). Rennomadismens dynamik. Rennomadismen och befolkningsutvecklingen i Tuorpon och Sirkas 1760–1780. *Historisk Tidskrift* 2, 161–80.
- Kvist, R. & Wheelersburg, R.P. (1997). Changes in Saami socioeconomic institutions in Jokkmokk parish 1720-1890. Arctic Anthropology 34(2), 1-11.
- Lehtonen, H. & Huttunen, P. (1997). Effects of forest fires and slash-and-burn cultivation on forest structure in eastern Finland. In: *Forest fire history in north Karelia: dendroecological approach*. Faculty of Forestry. University of Joensuu, Joensuu:
- Lesica, P., McCune, B., Cooper, S.V. & Hong, W.S. (1991). Differences in lichen and bryophyte communities between old-growth and managed 2nd-growth forests in the Swan Valley, Montana. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 69(8), 1745–1755.
- Lewis, H.T. (1985). Why Indians burned: specific versus general reasons. In: Lotan, J.E., et al. (Eds.) Preceedings, Symposium and Workshop on Wilderness Fire. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-182. Ogden. UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. pp. 75-86.
- Liedgren, L.G., Josefsson, T. & Östlund, L. (2009). Samisk byggnadskultur timrade kåtor och exemplet Bläckajaure. Arkeologi i Norr 11, 115-144.
- Lilja, S. & Kuuluvainen, T. (2005). Structure of old *Pinus sylvestris* dominated forest stands along a geographic and human impact gradient in mid-boreal Fennoscandia. *Silva Fennica* 39(3), 407-428.
- Lilja, S. (2006). Ecological restoration of forests in Fennoscandia: defining reference stand structures and immediate effects of restoration. Diss. University of Helsinki. Helsinki.
- Linder, P., Elfving, B. & Zackrisson, O. (1997). Stand structure and successional trends in virgin boreal forest reserves in Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management* 98(1), 17-33.
- Linder, P. & Östlund, L. (1998). Structural changes in three mid-boreal Swedish forest landscapes, 1885-1996. *Biological Conservation* 85(1-2), 9-19.
- Lorimer, C.G. (1980). Age structure and disturbance history of a southern Appalachian virgin forest. *Ecology* 61, 1169-1184.
- Lundholm, K. (2008). Natur i norr: naturskydd och nationalparker i Norrbotten 100 år. Luleå: Naturskyddsföreningen i Norrbottens län.
- Löfman, S. & Kouki, J. (2001). Fifty years of landscape transformation in managed forests of Southern Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16(1), 44–53.
- Manker, E. (1968). Skogslapparna i Sverige: fältanteckningar. Stockholm: Almkvist & Wiksell.
- Margules, C.R. & Pressey, R.L. (2000). Systematic conservation planning. *Nature* 405(6783), 243-253.
- Marshall, A.L. (2002). Culturally modified trees of the Nechako plateau: cambium utilization amongst traditionel carrier (Dahkel) peoples. MSc. Simon Fraser University. Burnaby.
- Martinez, D. (2003). Protected areas, indigenous peoples, and the western idea of nature. *Ecological Restoration* 21(4), 247-250.
- Martorano, M.A. (1981). Scarred Ponderosa pine trees reflecting cultural utilization of bark. MSc. Colorado State University. Fort Collins.
- McLachlan, J.S., Foster, D.R. & Menalled, F. (2000). Anthropogenic ties to late-successional structure and composition in four New England hemlock stands. *Ecology* 81(3), 717-733.
- Mitchell, F.J.G. & Cole, E. (1998). Reconstruction of long-term successional dynamics of temperate woodland in Bialowieza Forest, Poland. *Journal of Ecology* 86(6), 1042-1059.

- Mladenoff, D.J., White, M.A., Pastor, J. & Crow, T.R. (1993). Comparing spatial pattern in unaltered old-growth and disturbed forest landscapes. *Ecological Applications* 3(2), 294-306.
- Mobley, C.M. & Eldridge, M. (1992). Culturally modified trees in the Pacific Northwest. *Arctic Anthropology* 29(2), 91-110.
- Motzkin, G., Wilson, P., Foster, D.R. & Allen, A. (1999). Vegetation patterns in heterogeneous landscapes: the importance of history and environment. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 10, 903–920.
- Motzkin, G. & Foster, D.R. (2004). Insights for ecology and conservation. In: Foster, D.R., et al. (Eds.) Forests in time: the environmental consequences of 1000 years of change in New England. New Haven: Yale University Press. pp. 367-79.
- Nelson, R.K. (1980). Athapaskan subsistence adaptations in Alaska. In: Kotani, Y., et al. (Eds.) Alaska native culture and history. Osaka: National Museum of Ethnology. pp. 205– 232.
- Nelson, R.K. (1983). Make prayers to the raven: a Koyukon view of the northern forest. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Niemelä, T., Wallenius, T. & Kotiranta, H. (2002). The kelo tree, a vanishing substrate of specified wood-inhabiting fungi. *Polish Botanical Journal* 47(2), 91-101.
- Niklasson, M., Zackrisson, O. & Östlund, L. (1994). A dendroecological reconstruction of use by Sami of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) inner bark over the last 350 years at Sädvajaure. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 3(3), 183-190.
- Nitare, J. (Ed.) (2005). Signalarter: indikatorer på skyddsvärd skog. Jönköping: Skogsstyrelsen.
- Norén, M., Nitare, J., Larsson, A., Hultgren, B. & Bergengren, I. (2005). Handbok för inventering av nyckelbiotoper. Jönköping: Skogsstyrelsen.
- Norton, T.W. (1996). Conservation of biological diversity in temperate and boreal forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 85(1-3), 1-7.
- Olofsson, J., Kitti, H., Rautiainen, A., Stark, S. & Oksanen, L. (2001). Effects of summer grazing by reindeer on composition of vegetation, productivity and nitrogen cycling. *Ecography* 24, 13–24.
- Økland, T., Rydgren, K., Økland, R.H., Storaunet, K.O. & Rolstad, J. (2003). Variation in environmental conditions, understorey species number, abundance and composition among natural and managed Picea-abies forest stands. *Forest Ecology and Management* 177(1-3), 17-37.
- Östlund, L. (1995). Logging the virgin forest: northern Sweden in the early-nineteenth century. *Forest & Conservation History* 39(4), 160-171.
- Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Axelsson, A.L. (1997). The history and transformation of a Scandinavian boreal forest landscape since the 19th century. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 27(8), 1198-1206.
- Östlund, L. & Zackrisson, O. (2000). The forest history of boreal Sweden a multidisciplinary approach. In: Agnoletti, M., et al. (Eds.) Methods and approaches in forest history. IUFRO research series 3. New York: CABI Publishing. pp. 119-28.
- Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Hörnberg, G. (2002). Trees on the border between nature and culture culturally modified trees in boreal Scandinavia. *Environmental History* 7(1), 48-68.



- Östlund, L., Ericsson, T.S., Zackrisson, O. & Andersson, R. (2003). Traces of past Sami forest use: an ecological study of culturally modified trees and earlier land use within a boreal forest reserve. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 18(1), 78-89.
- Östlund, L., Bergman, I. & Zackrisson, O. (2004). Trees for food a 3000 year record of subarctic plant use. *Antiquity* 78(300), 278-286.
- Östlund, L. & Bergman, I. (2006). Cultural landscapes in northern forests: time, space and affiliation to the land. In: Agnoletti, M. (Ed.) *Conservation of cultural landscapes*. Wallington: CABI Publishing. pp. 30-40.
- Östlund, L., Ahlberg, L., Zackrisson, O., Bergman, I. & Arno, S. (2009). Bark-peeling, food stress and tree spirits the use of pine inner bark for food in Scandinavia and North America. *Journal of Ethnobiology* 29(1), 94-112.
- Palviainen, M., Laiho, R., Makinen, H. & Finer, L. (2008). Do decomposing Scots pine, Norway spruce, and silver birch stems retain nitrogen? *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 38(12), 3047–3055.
- Peterken, G.F. & Jones, E.W. (1987). Forty years of change in Lady Park Wood: the oldgrowth stands. *Journal of Ecology* 75(2), 477-512.
- Peterken, G.F. (1993). *Woodland conservation and management*. 2 edition. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Peterken, G.F. (1996). Natural woodland: ecology and conservation in northern temperate regions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pollan, M. (1991). Second nature: a gardener's education. New York: Grove Press cop.
- Potapov, P.V., Yaroshenko, A.Y., Turubanova, S.A., Dubinin, M., Laestadius, L., Thies, C., Aksenov, D., Egorov, A., Yesipova, Y., Glushkov, I., Karpachevskiy, M., Kostikova, A., Manisha, A., Tsybikova, E. & Zhuravleva, I. (2008). *Mapping the World's Intact Forest Landscapes by Remote Sensing*. Ecology and Society 13.
- Povilitis, T. (2002). What is a natural area? Natural Areas Journal 22(1), 70-74.
- Prince, P. (2001). Dating and interpreting pine cambium collection scars from two parts of the Nechako river drainage, British Colombia. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 28, 253-263.
- Proctor, J.D. (1996). Whose nature? The contested moral terrain of ancient forests. In: Cronon, W. (Ed.) Uncommon ground: toward reinventing nature. New York: W.W. Northon & Company. pp. 269–97.
- Qvarnström, E. (2006). "De tycka emellertid av gammal vana att det smakar gott, och tro dessutom att det är bra för hälsan". MSc. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Umeå.
- Ray, A.J. (1996). I have lived here since the world began: and illustrated history of Canada's native people. Toronto: Lester Publishing ltd. and Key Porter Books.
- Reif, A. & Walentowski, H. (2008). The assessment of naturalness and its role for nature conservation and forestry in Europe. *Waldökologie, Landschaftforschung und Naturschutz* 6, 63-76.
- Renvall, P. (1995). Community structure and dynamics of wood-rotting Basidiomycetes on decomposing conifer trunks in northern Finland. *Karstenia* 35, 1-51.
- Rhemtulla, J.M. & Mladenoff, D.J. (2007). Why history matters in landscape ecology. *Landscape Ecology* 22, 1-3.

- Rolstad, J., Saetersdal, M., Gjerde, I. & Storaunet, K.O. (2004). Wood-decaying fungi in boreal forest: are species richness and abundances influenced by small-scale spatiotemporal distribution of dead wood? *Biological Conservation* 117(5), 539-555.
- Rouvinen, S., Kuuluvainen, T. & Karjalainen, L. (2002). Coarse woody debris in old *Pinus sylvestris* dominated forests along a geographic and human impact gradient in boreal Fennoscandia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 32(12), 2184–2200.
- Rouvinen, S. & Kouki, J. (2008). The natural northern European boreal forests: unifying the concepts, terminologies, and their application. *Silva Fennica* 42(1), 135-146.
- Runkle, J.R. (1982). Patterns of disturbance in some old-growth mesic forests of eastern north America. *Ecology* 63(5), 1533-1546.
- Ruong, I. (1945). *Studier i lapsk kultur i Pite lappmark och angränsande områden*. Stockholm: P.A. Norstedt & Söner. (Svenska landsmål och svenskt folkliv
- Ruong, I. (1954). Om renmjölkningen på sydlapskt område. Uppsala: Svenska landsmål och svenskt folkliv.
- Ruong, I. (1969). Samerna. Stockholm: Aldus/Bonnier.
- Räsänen, S. (2001). Tracing and interpreting fine-scale human impact in northern Fennoscandia with the aid of modern pollen analogues. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 10, 211-218.
- Satterfield, T. (1997). "Woodoo science" and common sence: ways of knowing old-growth forests. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 53, 443-59.
- Schenck, C.A. (1924). Der Waldbau des Urwalds. Allgemeine Forst- und Jagd-zeitung 100, 377-388.
- Schweingruber, F.H. (1988). Tree rings: basics and applications of dendrochronology. Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Segerström, U. (1990). The post-glacial history of vegetation and agriculture in the Luleälv river valley. Umeå: Department of Archaeology. (Archaeology and Environment 7).
- Sejersen, F. (2004). Horizons of sustainability in Green land: Inuit landscapes of memory and vision. *Arctic Anthropology* 41(1), 71-89.
- Sernander, R. (1918). Fiby urskog. Sveriges Natur 9, 29-37.
- Shorohova, E., Kuuluvainen, T., Kangur, A. & Jogiste, K. (2009). Natural stand structures, disturbance regimes and successional dynamics in the Eurasian boreal forests: a review with special reference to Russian studies. *Annals of Forest Science* 66(2)
- Shtil'mark, F.R. (2003). History of the Russian Zapovedniks. Edinburgh: Russian Nature Press.
- Siitonen, J. (2001). Forest management, coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forests as an example. *Ecological Bulletins* 49, 11-41.
- Sippola, A.L., Siitonen, J. & Kallio, R. (1998). Amount and quality of coarse woody debris in natural and managed coniferous forests near the timberline in Finnish Lapland. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 13(2), 204-214.
- Sippola, A.L., Siitonen, J. & Punttila, P. (2002). Beetle diversity in timberline forests: a comparison between old-growth and regeneration areas in Finnish Lapland. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 39(1), 69-86.
- Sippola, A.L., Simila, M., Monkkonen, M. & Jokimaki, J. (2004). Diversity of polyporous fungi (polyporaceae) in northern boreal forests: Effects of forest site type and logging intensity. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 19(2), 152-163.

- Sjörs, H. (1965). Forest regions. In: Du Rietz, G.E. (Ed.) *The plant cover of Sweden. Acta Phytogeographica Suecica 50*. Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksell. pp. 48-63.
- Smith, C.S. & McNees, L.M. (1999). Facilities and hunter-gatherer long-term land use patterns: An example from southwest Wyoming. *American Antiquity* 64(1), 117-136.
- Spies, T.A. & Turner, M.G. (1999). Dynamic forest mosaics. In: Hunter JR, M.L. (Ed.) Maintaining biodiversity in forest ecosystems. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp. 95-160.
- Sprugel, D.G. (1991). Disturbance, equilibrium, and environmental variability: what is 'natural' vegetation in a changing environment? *Biological Conservation* 58, 1-18.
- Stark, S., Wardle, D.A., Ohtonen, R., Helle, T. & Yeates, G.W. (2000). The effect of reindeer grazing on decomposition, mineralization and soil biota in a dry oligotrophic Scots pine forest. *Oikos* 90, 301-310.
- Steen, H.K. (1992). *The origins of the national forests: a centennial symposium*. Durham: Forest History Society.
- Stevenson, M.G. & Webb, J. (2004). First Nations: measures and monitors of boreal forest biodiversity. *Ecological Bulletins* 51, 83–92.
- Storaunet, K.O., Rolstad, J. & Groven, R. (2000). Reconstructing 100-150 years of logging history in coastal spruce forest (*Picea abies*) with special conservation values in central Norway. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 15(6), 591-604.
- Suominen, O. & Olofsson, J. (2000). Impacts of semi-domesticated reindeer on structure of tundra and forest communities in Fennoscandia: a review. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 37, 233-249.
- Suominen, O., Niemelä, J., Martikainen, P., Niemelä, P. & Kojola, I. (2003). Impact of reindeer grazing on ground-dwelling Carabidae and Curculionidae assemblages in Lapland. *Ecography* 26, 503-513.
- Swetnam, T.W. (1984). Peeled Ponderosa pine trees: a record of inner bark utilization by Native Americans. Journal of Ethnobiology 4(2), 177-190.
- Swetnam, T.W., Allen, C.D. & Betancourt, J.L. (1999). Applied historical ecology: using the past to manage for the future. *Ecological Applications* 9(4), 1189-1206.
- Thoreau, H.D. (1854). Walden, or, life in the woods. Boston: Ticknor and Fields.
- Turner II, B.L. (Ed.) (1990). The earth as transformed by human action: global and regional changes in biosphere over the past 300 years. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press with Clark University.
- Uotila, A., Kouki, J., Kontkanen, H. & Pulkkinen, P. (2002). Assessing the naturalness of boreal forests in eastern Fennoscandia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 161(1-3), 257-277.
- Urbieta, I.R., Zavala, M.A. & Maranon, T. (2008). Human and non-human determinants of forest composition in southern Spain: evidence of shifts towards cork oak dominance as a result of management over the past century. *Journal of Biogeography* 35(9), 1688-1700.
- Vainshtein, S. (1980). Nomads of South Siberia: the pastoral economies of Tuva. Cambridge studies in social anthropology 25. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wardle, D.A., Walker, L.R. & Bardgett, R.D. (2004). Ecosystem properties and forest decline in contrasting long-term chronosequences. *Science* 305(5683), 509–513.
- Veblen, T.T., Schlegel, F.M. & Escobar R, B. (1980). Structure and dynamics of old-growth Nothofagus forests in the Valdivian Andes, Chile. Journal of Ecology 68(1), 1-31.



- Veblen, T.T. (1986). Age and size structure of sub-alpine forests in the Colorado Front Range. Bulletin Of The Torrey Botanical Club 113(3), 225-240.
- White, P.S. & Walker, J.L. (1997). Approximating nature's variation: Selecting and using reference information in restoration ecology. *Restoration Ecology* 5(4), 338–349.
- Whitney, G.G. (1994). From coastal wilderness to fruited plain: a history of environmental change in temperate North America, 1500 to the present. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Williams, M. (2000). Putting 'flesh on the carbon-based bones of forest history'. In: Agnoletti, M., et al. (Eds.) Methods and approaches in forest history. IUFRO research series 3. New York: CABI Publishing. pp. 35-46.
- Willis, K.J., Gillson, L., Brncic, T.M. & Figueroa-Rangel, B.L. (2005). Providing baselines for biodiversity measurement. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20(3), 107-108.
- Willis, K.J. & Birks, H.J.B. (2006). What is natural? The need for a long-term perspective in biodiversity conservation. *Science* 314(5803), 1261–1265.
- Vitebsky, P. (2005). The reindeer people: living with animals and spirits in Siberia. New York: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Vitousek, P.M. (1994). Beyond global warming ecology and global change. *Ecology* 75(7), 1861-1876.
- Vitousek, P.M., Aber, J.D., Howarth, R.W., Likens, G.E., Matson, P.A., Schindler, D.W., Schlesinger, W.H. & Tilman, G.D. (1997). Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. *Ecological Applications* 7(3), 737-750.

Vorren, K.-D. (1986). The impact of early agriculture on the vegetation of northern Norway: A discussion of anthropogenic indicators in biostratigraphical data. In: Behre, K.E. (Ed.) Anthropogenic indicators in pollen diagrams. Rotterdam: A.A. Balkema. pp. 1-18.

- Vorren, Ø. (1978). Finnmarksviddas kulturhistorie. In: Finnmarksvidda: natur kultur. Norges offentlige utredninger 18A. Oslo: Univ.-forl.
- Yaroshenko, A.Y., Potapov, P.V. & Turubanova, S.A. (2001). The last intact forest landscapes of northern European Russia. Moscow: Greenpeace Russia and the Global Forest Watch.
- Zackrisson, O., Östlund, L., Korhonen, O. & Bergman, I. (2000). The ancient use of *Pinus sylvestris* L. (Scots pine) inner bark by Sami people in northern Sweden, related to cultural and ecological factors. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 9(2), 99-109.
- Zerbe, S. (2004). Influence of historical land use on present-day forest patterns: A case study in south-western Germany. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 19(3), 261-273.



# Acknowledgements

Doing a PhD is kind of a journey that takes you on many long and winding roads, leaves you stranded, picks you up again and brings you go back to where you started – yet endlessly moving you forward – into the great wide open. And it's a great journey – most of the time...

Occasionally, the wind blows cold and fortunately, there are always someone there to give you shelter from the storm. I am grateful to many people who have encouraged me through the last five years. First, my deepest gratitude goes to Lars Östlund and Greger Hörnberg who have guided me through the fields of forest history. Lars, thank you for your support and great friendship! Without your encouragement I would never have started working on a PhD-thesis, and without your endless inspiration I would never been able to finish this work. Greger, thanks for introducing me to Pollen Street and for your never-ceasing enthusiasm. The work behind this thesis is also the result of great team work. It has been a pleasure to work with Ingela Bergman, Lasse Liedgren, Björn Gunnarson, Anna Berg and Jörgen Olsson. Thank you for wonderful days and evenings in the field and for interesting and fruitful discussions. I am also thankful to Kristoffer Sivertsson, Åsa Fjellborg, Simon Halling and Wjatcheslav Spirin for assisting me in the field. Thanks also to Per Linder at Fastighetsverket for facilitating my field work.

Big thanks to Anna and all the PhD-students, and also other colleagues at the department. Keep the night light burning! I am thankful also to the following people who have helped me in different ways: Mats Högström, Cuno Bernardsson, Michael Gundale, John-Erik Hansson, Jim Wallgren.

Thank you to those who have organized and participated in courses and workshops on forest history/ecology during the years. I would also like to thank a number of people who have inspired me along the way: Richard Bradshaw, Timo Kuuluvainen, David Mladenoff, Bengt-Gunnar Jonsson,

Per-Anders Esseen, David Wardle, Per Angelstam, Lena Gustafsson, Per Simonsson, Frederic Forsmark and Henning Ranqvist.

Finally, life would be nothing without my dear friends and family – Carl-Olof, Sonja, Ibo, Anna-Greta, Marie-Louise & Kenneth, Örjan & Anki, Rana & Anders. I especially send my gratitude to my father who gave me the chance to appreciate nature. All my loving to my wonderful two sons Elias and Hannes – the "book" is finally complete!

To my dearly beloved Shira – thank you for encouragement and for your love and support, for your patience, and thank you for just being there with me...

Funding is greatly acknowledged from the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS), the Bank of Sweden Tercentenary Foundation, Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation and the Carl Kempe Foundation. Thank you David, Timo, Ingela, Anna, Maria, Ida, Per-Erik Mukka and Mari for aiding my work with this thesis. Thanks also to John Blackwell for language improvements.

\_

Special thanks also to Samuel Beam, C King, J Mayer, Mr Catley & Mr Clarkin, Led, Mrs Merchant, N Percival Young, Mr Bug Bug Bug & Bug, R Adams, Mr Hammett & friends, Bruce, Yalpdloc, A & N Wilson, Tom & Jerry, Ray LaMontagne, Tnek, E-L Harris, D R Jones, P Lynott, Tom, Roberta Joan Anderson, J Mogine and associated, Mrs Cassidy, Steveland, R J Cash, Dickinson & Harris, Mr Hudson & friends, Mother Love Bone and associated, Mr Byron & Mr Hensley, Dyolf Knip, M Davis, and of course special thanks to Bob.

Torbjörn, October 2009.

